Integrated Millimeter-Wave Signal Amplification and Frequency Multiplication for Phase Conjugation

Vinay Venkataraman Iyer

August 2023

A Dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering at The University of Virginia

> Committee N. Scott Barker, Chair Travis N. Blalock Olivier Pfister Jeffrey Hesler Robert M. Weikle, Advisor Steven M. Bowers, Co-Advisor

All Rights Reserved, Vinay Venkataraman Iyer Some materials previously published in IEEE publications and copyright is owned by IEEE. А

Presented to the faculty of the School of Engineering and Applied Science University of Virginia

> in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

> > by

APPROVAL SHEET

This

is submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Author:

Advisor:

Advisor:

Committee Member:

Committee Member:

Committee Member:

Committee Member:

Committee Member:

Committee Member:

Accepted for the School of Engineering and Applied Science:

J-62. W-+

Jennifer L. West, School of Engineering and Applied Science

Abstract

Integrated Millimeter-Wave Signal Amplification and Frequency Multiplication for Phase Conjugation

The terahertz range is generally accepted as the spectrum between 300 GHz and 3 THz to distinguish it from its millimeter-wave counterpart (30–300 GHz). The first documented demonstration of a terahertz system was in 1923. Since then, there has been a significant amount of research in understanding the fundamental nature of the spectrum that exists between heat and electric waves. Almost a century later, this space has not been fully conquered, and the terahertz gap still exists. On the other hand, the significant challenges in devising hardware to enable the generation, detection, manipulation and modulation of terahertz waves make this an area rich with opportunities to explore. Numerous approaches including vacuum tube amplifiers, Schottky diodes, CMOS and BiCMOS transistors, HBT and HEMT have been pursued and it is generally accepted that all these methods complement each other in their capabilities. Terahertz radiation has applications in imaging, communications and spectroscopy among many others.

This research fundamentally focuses on techniques for terahertz wave front manipulation, and more specifically for phase conjugation, while building on wideband amplifier design and characterization techniques. Phase conjugation has been primarily used in the optical regimes for aberration correction, and in the microwave regime in automatic point and track systems and communications including radar. The phase conjugated beam bears a unique relation with regards to the signal beam the wavefront is reversed and any distortions in the signal beam as it passes through an non-homogeneous medium can be removed as the reverse beam passes through the same medium. There are interesting applications for this behavior in imaging at the diffraction limited regime enabled by time-reversal among others, and there has been some success in realizing these results. Nevertheless, challenges with demonstrating phase conjugation itself exist, and transistor and material-based approaches coexist in this space.

In the transistor realm, Indium Phosphide (InP) Heterojunction Bipolar Transistors have demonstrated capabilities with f_{max} in excess of 1 THz (130 nm). InP HBTs are therefore well positioned to be designed into terahertz applications. Commercial foundries are also able to integrate these devices with other circuit components and multiple levels of metallization, enabling an extensive design space of devices and antenna elements. This research has two thrusts. The first part of the research details the design and measurement of wideband and high output power amplifiers for emerging 6G applications. Techniques for modulation measurements and power combining are detailed and the work is demonstrated by proof-of-concept realization using the 130nm InP HBT node from Teledyne Scientific.

The next part of the research focuses on the design and characterization of a phase conjugating system operating at 300 GHz in the 250 nm InP HBT node from Teledyne Scientific. Additionally, tests structures are also designed and implemented in the same technology to correlate the behavior of the system with the individual circuit blocks. The research demonstrates the capabilities of InP HBT transistor technology in devising novel methods for wavefront and signal modulation at terahertz, and opens up new frontiers to expand on this in conjunction with other device technologies like Schottky diodes. As part of the design of the individual circuit blocks, the research also details techniques that can be used to improve performance in mmwave circuits at frequencies approaching the limits of operation

of the device.

One critical aspect to enabling massive terahertz electronic systems at scale is the holistic integration of electromagnetic and circuit simulator based co-design of circuits, with packaging techniques. These are specifically of immense importance in circuits that have a soft dielectric underneath the pad metallization, like the demonstrations in this thesis are. A custom interposer capable of being used to supply DC bias to the pads on the integrated circuit, and of being wire bonded to a printed circuit board, was used to characterize the behavior of the test structures in the latter part of the thesis. This opens up a potentially interesting space for developing mmwave systems that can be deployed at scale while being resilient to foundry and pad specific adhesion and other packaging issues. The interposer was comprehensively designed and fabricated in-house in the UVA cleanroom while making use of modern fabrication and etch techniques.

This research also expands on earlier work that used phased LO signals to relax the frequency requirements on the Local Oscillator (LO) for phase conjugate mixing. A prototype subharmonic phase conjugate mixer that uses the 4th harmonic of the LO is implemented on a FR4 4 layer PCB, and is the first demonstration of a phase conjugate mixer using subharmonic mixing of the 4th harmonic of the LO with the RF, while incorporating a quadrature hybrid to intrinsically separate the input RF and output IF. Although the use of subharmonic mixers to achieve phase conjugation is not novel, this particular design that is able to separate the RF and IF to different ports unlike prior art that used the same antenna to radiate both is new in itself. Prior art also relied on an arbitrarily low frequency separation to demonstrate the potential for retrodirection. While optical techniques have been used to demonstrate phase conjugation using three and four way mixing, a unified theory to establish this behavior using conventional RF measurement techniques is absent in the literature. This thesis establishes one such technique using the aforementioned mixer. This method has the potential to be used in specific applications like network synthesis for example, and provides a quantitative method to infer the quality of the phase conjugate signal versus the other signals in the system.

This research was supported by the US National Ground Intelligence Center (NGIC) under Contract No. W911W5-16-C-0007 "SMM Wave Device/System Development and Radar Signature Support" and No. W50NH9-21-C-0013. This research was also supported by the NSF SPECEES Program and through a subcontract to NSF Grant AST-2132700 (SpectrumX - An NSF Spectrum Innovation Center).

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to thank my advisors Dr. Robert M Weikle (Bobby), and Dr. Steven M. Bowers (Steve) for their unwavering support throughout the course of my graduate studies. I wholeheartedly thank them for continuing to believe in me through my time here. Thank you also for helping me grow as a person on an individual and professional level, and for continuing to instil in me the hunger for excellence in my research and to be asking the difficult questions. Thank you to my committee members - Dr. Scott Barker, Dr. Jeffrey Hesler, Dr. Travis Blalock and Dr. Olivier Pfister for for their constant feedback and critique which helped shape my proposal and dissertation. They also helped provide a perspective on potential pitfalls, and how I could best demonstrate my ideas within the constraints I had. Thank you specifically to Dr. Blalock for all the helpful and often intense questions on the design decisions - I thoroughly enjoyed all the brainstorming and learnt a lot in the process.

I wholeheartedly thank Dr. Herbert Zirath (Professor, High Speed Electronics at Chalmers University) who's IEEE DML lecture at a now-defunct airport in Maryland spurred me to apply for graduate school. Thank you to Bobby for giving me the opportunity to work with Herbert and his team in Sweden for a few weeks. Thank you also to Vessen Vassilev and Ahmed Adel Hassona at Chalmers for aiding me during my time there. Thank you also to the UVA research scientists Matthew Bauwens and Michael Cyberey who were crucial in the fabrication, packaging and characterization of elements of this thesis. Thank you also to Helge Heinrich, Research Scientist, Nanoscale Materials Research Facility for helping with Focused Ion Beam milling.

I acknowledge the administrative staff without who I would have likely not been able to accomplish anything - Yadira Valencia and Terry Tigner. Terry, thank you for always being around to answer my queries and to help me make purchases at short notice. Yadi, thank you too for always being available and for being there when I felt the need to vent. I will sincerely miss your company and the fun times we had at all the social events.

I would not have been able to achieve what I set out to do without the support of my team mates (some now alumni) in Steve and Bobby's group. Jay, thank you for motivating me through all the hard times, and for working to make the most of all the efforts we put into the mmwave power amplifiers project. I hope I have done the same for you in my own small way. Xioachuan, thank you for helping me make all my measurements extremely robust. Linsheng, thank you for working together with me on the DAT project. Divya, thank you for all the help especially on issues concerning wirebonding and PCBs. Prerana, thank you for pitching in on a tapeout when asked at the last minute - I sincerely appreciate that. Yaobin, Pedram, Samin, Shadrach and Jinhua - thank you for helping whenever asked. I hope I have been a useful resource as a senior graduate student to you as well. I thank Sumanth Kamineni for working with Jay, Linsheng and me on the digital transmitter project.

To Christopher Moore and Dustin Widmann, thank you for being my comrades in arms and showing me that life in grad school does not always have to be about work. I have enjoyed all our chats - from the informal coffee breaks to the hikes to the brainstorming sessions over zoom. I have learnt a lot about the intricacies of fabrication from you, Chris. I take away a deep seated appreciation for how the devices I like to work with (transistors of course) are built. I will thoroughly miss you both, but I know that we shall remain friends no matter where life takes us.

To the alumni from both labs - Pouyan Bassirian, Rob Costanzo, Jesse Moody, Michael Eller, Souheil Nadri, Linli Xie, Anjana Dissanayake and Sumanth Kaminenithank you for all the times you have helped out. You have all contributed to making the groups', the various societies (SSCS and MTTS) and my student life here more enjoyable, and I sincerely appreciate that.

I would not have started down the STEM path had it not been for my middle and high school teachers and their constant push in motivating me to follow my passions- Ms. Varsha Kumta, Ms. Sheela Mysore, Ms. Anjali Bowen and Ms. Lourdes Joseph. Thank you to the undergraduate faculty I had the opportunity to be instructed by - (Late) Prof. Suresh Ramaswamy, Dr. Gaurav Dar, Dr. Pravin Mane, Dr. Raghunath Ratabole, Dr. Biju Raveendran and Dr. Amalin Prince. Dr. Ramaswamy's demonstration of a gyroscope's working in 'Physics I' has been a seminal memory. Thank you also to Dr. Brian Floyd and Dr. David Ricketts at NCSU for showing me the path to my true passion and enabling me to wholeheartedly pursue it. My success today is in a large part attributable to each of my teachers including the many ones I have missed noting here.

All of this could not have been possible without the support of my loving wife Darshna, and our parents. Darshna, thank you for being a rock in my life and for constantly motivating me and keeping me going - I owe you an eternally growing debt. To your parents and Ranjana, I wholeheartedly thank them for their unwavering support from across the world. To my parents, I hope this is a small homage to all the sacrifices you had to make for me while growing up. I would not be here if not for the values you instilled in me.

Finally, thank you to the Bhagavad Gita - for providing me succor in the darkest times and for keeping me grounded in the good times. The learnings of the Gita are timeless and a source of eternal spiritual light for all humanity.

> This work is dedicated to my parents and wife. Vinay Iyer

"Seek refuge in the attitude of detachment and you will amass the wealth of spiritual awareness. The one who is motivated only by the desire for the fruits of their action, and anxious about the results, is miserable indeed."

- The Bhagavad Gita

Contents

| Al | ostrac | ct | ii |
|----|--------|---|----|
| Ac | cknov | vledgements | vi |
| Co | onten | ts | x |
| | | | |
| 1 | Intr | oduction | 13 |
| | 1.1 | Research Overview | 13 |
| | 1.2 | Background of the research | 16 |
| | 1.3 | Thesis Statement | 22 |
| | 1.4 | Research Questions | 22 |
| | 1.5 | Research Contributions | 23 |
| | 1.6 | Dissertation Organization | 24 |
| | 1.7 | Exhaustive List of publications (published and submitted) | 25 |
| 2 | Effic | cient wideband medium power amplifiers for beyond 100 GHz opera- | |
| | tion | - Design and characterization techniques | 27 |
| | 2.1 | Introduction | 27 |
| | 2.2 | Modulation chain | 28 |
| | 2.3 | Power Amplifier design | 30 |
| | | 2.3.1 Transistor Characterization and intrinsic loadline analysis | 30 |
| | | 2.3.2 Loadpull analysis and EM simulations | 33 |

| | | 2.3.3 | Stability analysis | 35 |
|---|------|----------------|---|----|
| | 2.4 | Measu | arements and results | 36 |
| | | 2.4.1 | CW measurements | 36 |
| | | 2.4.2 | Modulation measurements | 37 |
| | 2.5 | Concl | usion and areas for further research | 38 |
| | 2.6 | Persor | nal Contributions | 39 |
| | | 2.6.1 | Acknowledgements | 41 |
| 3 | DAT | - A m i | illimeterwave extension : Analysis and characterization | 43 |
| | 3.1 | Introd | luction | 43 |
| | 3.2 | DAT c | lesign and model | 44 |
| | | 3.2.1 | Fully differential configuration | 45 |
| | | 3.2.2 | Conversion to single-ended output | 47 |
| | 3.3 | Single | e stage PA design | 50 |
| | 3.4 | Power | splitter design | 51 |
| | 3.5 | Input | Balun Design | 52 |
| | 3.6 | Measu | arement Results | 53 |
| | | 3.6.1 | Small signal measurements | 53 |
| | | 3.6.2 | Large signal measurements | 55 |
| | | 3.6.3 | Modulation results | 56 |
| | 3.7 | Concl | usion | 57 |
| | 3.8 | Persor | nal Contributions | 57 |
| | | 3.8.1 | Acknowledgements | 58 |
| 4 | Circ | uits fo | r terahertz phase conjugation | 61 |
| | 4.1 | Conce | ptual description of the process | 62 |
| | 4.2 | Overv | iew of the architecture | 63 |
| | 4.3 | Descri | iption of the antenna building blocks | 67 |
| | | 4.3.1 | Frequency selective surface | 67 |

| | | 4.3.2 | Double folded slot | 68 |
|---|------|---------|--|----|
| | | 4.3.3 | Annular Slot | 69 |
| | 4.4 | System | n Level Antenna Simulations | 70 |
| | 4.5 | Circui | t descriptions and simulation results | 71 |
| | | 4.5.1 | Quadrupler | 72 |
| | | 4.5.2 | Active Balun (AB) | 73 |
| | | 4.5.3 | Micromixer | 75 |
| | | 4.5.4 | 300 GHz small signal amplifier | 75 |
| | 4.6 | Imple | mentation and chip photograph | 76 |
| | 4.7 | Die pa | ackaging scheme | 77 |
| | 4.8 | Measu | rement apparatus and results | 80 |
| | | 4.8.1 | SNR calculations | 81 |
| | | 4.8.2 | Observations | 81 |
| | 4.9 | Conclu | usions | 82 |
| | 4.10 | Persor | al Contributions | 83 |
| | | 4.10.1 | Acknowledgements | 83 |
| 5 | Desi | ign and | l characterization of a 250nm InP HBT frequency quadrupler | , |
| | usin | g custo | om DC interposers | 85 |
| | 5.1 | Beaml | ead frame/Interposer design and fabrication | 86 |
| | | 5.1.1 | Wafer preparation and front side processing | 86 |
| | | 5.1.2 | Beamlead processing | 89 |
| | 5.2 | Quadı | cupler Test Structure Design | 90 |
| | 5.3 | Packag | ging and measurements | 93 |
| | | 5.3.1 | S-parameter measurements | 93 |
| | | 5.3.2 | Large signal measurements | 96 |

5.4 Conclusions985.5 Personal Contributions98

| | | 5.5.1 Acknowledgements | 99 |
|---|-----|---|-----|
| 6 | Des | ign and characterization of a phase conjugator using subharmonic diod | e |
| | mix | ers 1 | .01 |
| | 6.1 | Circuit Analysis and Design | 02 |
| | 6.2 | Implementation | 04 |
| | 6.3 | Measurements | 05 |
| | 6.4 | Conclusion and future work | 12 |
| | 6.5 | Personal Contributions | 13 |
| | | 6.5.1 Acknowledgements | 13 |
| 7 | Con | clusion and Future work 1 | 15 |

Bibliography

____1

List of Figures

| 1.1 | Georgia Tech PA survey on silicon and III-V PAs at 100–190 GHz. (a) | |
|-----|---|----|
| | PAE vs. Psat. (b) Psat vs. frequency. The work in this thesis is clearly | |
| | labeled [1] | 14 |
| 1.2 | (a)CE IV characteristics of a 0.13um HBT normalized to emitter area | |
| | (b)Extrapolated ft, fmax vs Ic for 0.13x2um ² for varying Vce (c) Thin | |
| | film wiring environment [2] | 17 |
| 1.3 | Schematic of the Rotman Lens [3] | 19 |
| 2.1 | 121 GHz modulation measurement setup depicting the flow of vari- | |
| | ous signals and components. Waveguide connections are colored blue. | 29 |
| 2.2 | EVM performance of the chain without the DUT across modulation | |
| | formats. The measured EVM at 5 GHz QPSK is 7.7% | 29 |
| 2.3 | Packaged large-signal equivalent circuit. The red, light blue, dark | |
| | blue, and black boxes define the current reference plane (CRP), ex- | |
| | trinsic reference plane (ERP), package reference plane (PRP), and | |
| | measurement reference plane(MRP), respectively [4] | 31 |
| 2.4 | Simulated 2-GHz load lines and waveforms at the CRPs (a) and (e), | |
| | respectively, are embedded to the ERPs in (b) and (f), the PRPs in (c) | |
| | and (g). [4] | 33 |
| 2.5 | (a) Simulation set up used to arrive at the de-embedding capacitances | |
| | (b) Model used to simulate the current at the intrinsic waveform gen- | |
| | erator plane | 34 |

| 2.6 | (a) Loadpull contours for class A (i) CE (Common Emitter) (ii) Stacked | |
|-----|--|----|
| | PA (Power amplifier). Each stage in the CE and stacked PA was com- | |
| | prised of 4 transistors, each 6 μ m long (b) MSG (Maximum Stable | |
| | Gain) comparison for the CE, CB and stacked topology. (c) Schematic | |
| | of the stacked PA (d) Collector voltage waveform at the two nodes (e) | |
| | Die photo of the stacked PA. | 35 |
| 2.7 | Simulated and measured S-parameters of the PA showing a 3 dB gain | |
| | bandwidth of 45 GHz | 36 |
| 2.8 | Large signal (a) Measured and simulated output power at maximum | |
| | PAE (%), and maximum PAE (%) (b) Measured and simulated gain | |
| | (dB), output Power (dBm) and PAE (%) at 112.5 GHz - with a peak | |
| | PAE and output power at peak PAE, of 18.3 % and 15.3 dBm | 37 |
| 2.9 | Constellations for (a) 500 MSPS 16 QAM and (b) 5 GSPS QPSK. (c) | |
| | Performance across average output power (dBm), depicting 14 % EVM | |
| | for 5 GSPS QPSK. | 38 |
| 3.1 | Coupled inductors model of the DAT power combining topology (top), | |
| | and proposed 2-stage DAT PA with single-ended output (bottom) | 44 |
| 3.2 | Asymmetric coupled line model[5] applied in the DAT and its corre- | |
| | sponding layout | 46 |
| 3.3 | Comparison of simulated input impedance of the differential DAT | |
| | between the Asymmetrical Cline model and the EM model | 48 |
| 3.4 | The passive efficiency and total efficiency vs the shunt capacitor value | |
| | of DAT EM model, asymmetrical Cline model, and symmetrical Cline | |
| | model | 49 |
| 3.5 | HFSS EM Simulated DAT loss and interstage loss including the metal | |
| | loss and impedance mismatch | 50 |

| 3.6 | Schematic of the proposed stacked PA unit and the load pull simula- | |
|------|--|----|
| | tion of the power unit. | 51 |
| 3.7 | Proposed 2-to-8 power splitter co-designed with PA | 52 |
| 3.8 | A comparison of the splitter output without and with the ground cut | |
| | applied | 53 |
| 3.9 | (a) Marchand balun layout showing the ground plane change. (b) EM | |
| | simulated $ S $ parameter and phase imbalance of the balun. \ldots . | 54 |
| 3.10 | Die photo of the proposed DAT-based PA | 55 |
| 3.11 | Measured and simulated S-parameter from 90 GHz to 140 GHz | 55 |
| 3.12 | (a) Large signal measurement setup. (b) Measured and simulated out- | |
| | put power, gain, and PAE versus available input power at 120 GHz. | |
| | (c) Measured saturated output power and PAE versus frequency | 59 |
| 3.13 | Modulation measurement setup and measured rms EVM vs symbol | |
| | rate | 60 |
| 3.14 | Measured rms EVM vs symbol rate in QPSK, 16 QAM, and 64 QAM | |
| | modulation formats | 60 |
| 4.1 | Measured output power vs frequency for frequency multiplier based | |
| | sources produced by VDI. [6] | 64 |
| 4.2 | Architecture of the proposed array depicting the positions of anten- | |
| | nas and various circuit building blocks | 65 |
| 4.3 | Topology of the circuits and primary operating frequencies (a) 150 | |
| | GHz PA (b) Quadrupler (c) 600 GHz Active Balun (d) Fundamental | |
| | mixer (e) 300 GHz amplifier. Connections are emphasized with blue | |
| | dots, and jump-overs with green arcs. Bias connections are not shown | |
| | explicitly. Curved arrows indicate coupled lines. Emitter lengths are | |
| | listed. All circuits use two collector contact transistors | 66 |

| 4.4 | (a) Geometry of the FSS unit cell (b) Floquet mode results of the in- | |
|------|---|----|
| | sertion and return loss of the unit cell | 68 |
| 4.5 | (a) Elements of the double folded slot simulation including the lens | |
| | (b) Gain of the system at 146 GHz (dB) (c) Variation of the gain in | |
| | various directions as a function of frequency (broadside in bold red) | 69 |
| 4.6 | (a) Elements of the annular slot array simulation including the lens | |
| | (b) Gain of the system at 310 GHz (dB) | 70 |
| 4.7 | (a) Geometry of the final antenna system showing the two double | |
| | folded slots, four annular slots, the FSS and lens. (b) The gain of the | |
| | annular slot (RF) system at 303 GHz (dB). (c) The gain of the annular | |
| | slot (RF) system across frequency (d) The gain of the double folded | |
| | slot (LO) system at 153 GHz (dB). (d) The gain of the folded slot (LO) | |
| | system across frequency. | 71 |
| 4.8 | (a) Simulated behavior of the quadrupler versus frequency and (b) | |
| | Behavior of the quadrupler versus available LO power at 150 GHz | 73 |
| 4.9 | (a) Simulated behavior of the AB with and without a coupled line out- | |
| | put network in schematic (b) EM simulated outputs of the designed | |
| | active balun. | 74 |
| 4.10 | Plot of the conversion loss of the micromixer as a function of the | |
| | available LO power at 600 GHz, in dB | 75 |
| 4.11 | S21 (dB) of the 300 GHz amplifier vs frequency. | 76 |
| 4.12 | Die photo of the phase conjugating array chip | 76 |
| 4.13 | (a) Cartoon of the cross section of the packaging scheme used (b) Im- | |
| | age of the wirebonded InP die | 77 |
| 4.14 | 3D radiation pattern (Gain in dB) of the simulated cross section at 150 | |
| | GHz. The maxima in the broadside direction $(+z)$ is evidently seen as | |
| | are grating lobes from the introduction of the complex geometry | 78 |

| 2D radiation pattern (Gain in dB) of the simulated cross section at | |
|---|---|
| 150 GHz at various slices of Phi | 78 |
| 3D radiation pattern (Gain in dB) of the simulated cross section at 300 | |
| GHz. The maxima in the broadside direction (-z) is evidently seen as | |
| are grating lobes from the introduction of the complex geometry | 79 |
| 2D radiation pattern (gain in dB) of the simulated cross section at 300 | |
| GHz at various slices of Phi | 79 |
| Measurement setup used to characterize the InP PC array | 80 |
| (a) Photograph of the measurement setup showing all antennas and | |
| measurement/excitation sources (b) Image of the die epoxied to the | |
| high resistivity silicon substrate and wirebonded to PCB bias lines | 81 |
| Pictorial depiction of the fabrication process outlined in Section 5.1 | 86 |
| Permission of the Horizontal in the IWA clean room using stone out | 00 |
| beamiead frame fabricated in the OVA cleanfoom using steps out- | |
| lined in Section 5.1. This image shows beamleads on both the PCB | |
| and the InP die sides | 90 |
| (a) Schematic of the quadrupler test structure showing the positions | |
| of the CPW pads and dummy resistor. Biasing details are not shown | |
| explicitly. (b) Simulated performance of the quadrupler test structure | |
| vs available LO power. | 91 |
| Layout of the fabricated quadrupler test structure. The DC and RF | |
| CPW pads are indicated. | 92 |
| Die picture of the fabricated quadrupler test structure in conjunction | |
| with the DC interposer. The DC interposer beamleads and traces are | |
| colored bright yello. The cavity accomodating the die is seen as a | |
| black outline | 92 |
| One port S parameter results for the quadrupler, with the output ter- | |
| minated. | 94 |
| | 2D radiation pattern (Gain in dB) of the simulated cross section at 150 GHz at various slices of Phi |

| 5.7 | (a) Simulated one port S parameter at the input for the quadrupler, |
|------|--|
| | with the output terminated. (b) Current draw from supply when ex- |
| | cited significantly by a WR3 input power source |
| 5.8 | One port S parameter results for the quadrupler, with the input ter- |
| | minated from 580 to 620 GHz |
| 5.9 | Large signal measurement setup. The Spacek amp drives an isolator |
| | followed by the diode quadrupler |
| 5.10 | Saturated output power at peak current draw - Simulations vs mea- |
| | surements. The lower end is limited by the performance of the driv- |
| | ing source. The black and blue traces in (b) are relevant for comparison. 95 |
| 6.1 | Circuit architecture of the phase conjugator based on 4th order sub- |
| | harmonically pumped mixers. The transmission lines 1 and 2 are 90 |
| | degree at the RF frequency |
| 6.2 | Microstrip layout of the 4th order subharmonic phase conjugator 104 |
| 6.3 | Simulated S parameters of the Wilkinson Divider with 1 being the |
| | input port and 2 and 3 being the 3-dB split ports. The EM simulation |
| | was performed in the Keysight ADS Momentum simulator 106 |
| 6.4 | Photograph of the phase conjugate mixer. The APDs are labeled. The |
| | LO port is at the right, and the RF and IF ports are on the top and |
| | bottom of the image |
| 6.5 | Measured S parameters of the Phase Conjugator. RF input is at port |
| | 1, and IF output is at port 2 |
| 6.6 | Metrology scheme for demonstrating phase conjugation using the DUT |
| | mixer and a COTS frequency divider |

| 6.7 | Eqn 6.6 plotted for various values of the coefficients. (a) No phase |
|------|---|
| | conjugate signal and no LO leakage. (b) Strong phase conjugate sig- |
| | nal, no LO leakage. (c) Strong phase conjugate signal, with LO leak- |
| | age. (d) Equally strong phase conjugate signal and RF leakage with |
| | LO leakage |
| 6.8 | S21 of the phase shifter on a polar plot as the phase settings are al- |
| | tered (increasing phase delay, in steps of 10 degrees per gigacycles) 111 |
| 6.9 | S21 of the scheme shown above on a polar plot as the phase set- |
| | tings are altered, with the LO amp and frequency divider turned |
| | off(increasing phase delay, in steps of 10 degrees per gigacycles). More |
| | points would add more granularity |
| 6.10 | S21 of the scheme shown above on a polar plot as the phase set- |
| | tings are altered, with the LO amp and frequency divider turned |
| | on(increasing phase delay, in steps of 10 degrees per gigacycles) 113 |
| 6.11 | S21 of the scheme shown above on a polar plot as the phase set- |
| | tings are altered, with the LO amp and frequency divider turned |
| | on(increasing phase delay, in steps of 10 degrees per gigacycles). The |
| | contour centered at the origin is traced with the frequency divider |
| | and LO amplifier turned off. Each point is color coded and corre- |
| | sponds to exactly the same point on the phase shifter on both plots 114 |
| 6.12 | S21 on a polar plot with the LO path on, overlaid with an ellipse with |
| | parameters determined using Eqn. 6.6 and Table 6.3 |

List of Tables

| 1.1 | Detailed comparisons of 2G to 6G communications [7] |
|-----|--|
| 2.1 | Table of comparison for stand-alone PAs/Front-Ends at greater than |
| | 100GHz |
| 6.1 | Parameters of the Anti-Parallel Diode pair from Macom |
| 6.2 | Comparison of the measured and simulated performance of the phase |
| | conjugator |
| 6.3 | Values of the various complex quantities from curvefitting to an el- |
| | lipse using Equation. 6.6. The values are normalized to the LO leak- |
| | age in the last column. The analysis shows that the phase conjugate |
| | signal is 4.8 dB stronger than the leakage |

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Research Overview

Advances in transistor technology have driven tremendous improvements in connectivity and in enabling new applications. The number of connected devices is rapidly increasing and access to new spectrum at the lower frequency ranges is scarce. 5G systems are already in commercial deployment, and there is increasing emphasis on bringing beyond-5G and 6G applications to fruition in sensing, imaging and communication systems. The upper millimeter wave and sub-terahertz frequency range (100 - 300 GHz) is expected to be a major source of spectrum as systems move closer to achieving 1Tb/s of wireless throughput. These beyond 5G/6G applications [7, 8] are expected to be deployed as very large scale arrays to make up for the high-frequency path loss [9, 10].

Power amplifiers are crucial building blocks in such systems. At lower mmwave and RF frequencies, silicon based technologies enable extensive levels of integration and design space optimizations leading to wideband, energy-efficient power amplifiers. At mmwave frequencies and above, the lower fundamental transistor gain in silicon means that peak efficiency is low especially at D band and above. The average efficiency when amplifying high dynamic range signals is even lower. InP



Figure 1.1: Georgia Tech PA survey on silicon and III-V PAs at 100–190 GHz. (a) PAE vs. Psat. (b) Psat vs. frequency. The work in this thesis is clearly labeled [1]

PA offer higher fundamental gain and efficiency [11] [12, 13] at the higher end of the mmwave spectrum. These trends are plotted in Fig. 1.1 across frequency and saturated output power levels [1].

| features | 2G | 3G | 4G | 5G | 6G |
|------------|------------------------|----------------------|----------------------|--------------------------|------------------------|
| Period | 1990-2000 | 2000-2010 | 2010-2020 | 2020-2030 | 2030-2040 |
| Max. rate | 144 kb s ⁻¹ | 2 Mb s ⁻¹ | 1 Gb s ⁻¹ | 35.46 Gb s ⁻¹ | 100 Gb s ⁻¹ |
| Max. freq. | 1.9 GHz | 2.1 GHz | 6 GHz | 90 GHz | 10 THz |

Table 1.1: Detailed comparisons of 2G to 6G communications [7]

The first part of this research focuses on D band PAs that demonstrate high 3dB bandwidth and high output power. A stacked PA is designed in the 130 nm InP HBT technology node from Teledyne Scientific. This PA is demonstrated to have high peak efficiency and wideband characteristics. Previous work on modulated power amplifier measurements at W band have included custom modulators on chip and multi-chip solutions [14, 15]. We propose a signal lineup using commercial equipment that enables us to measure the performance of the standalone PA across power levels upto P1dB. The measurement is done once by equalizing the setup without the PA and then measuring the PA. Next, this wideband stacked PA is used as the unit cell in a millimeter wave DAT power amplifier and exhibits an excellent design space tradeoff between bandwidth, gain flatness and power levels. These two works have been listed in Fig.1.1 (a) and contribute vital data points - to

the best of our knowledge, these are the highest data rates achieved on InP power amplifiers at these frequencies at close to Psat levels. While other work displayed does show a greater data rate (30 Gbps), this was done at 6 dB back off. With this custom modulation chain, there is greater exercising of the modulating stimuli at ever increasing power levels and this can provide important information to PA designers as 6G proliferates, especially at the intersection of transistor and amplifier performance.

The earliest documented endeavor a century ago to demonstrate achieving terahertz radiation consisted of spark-gap oscillators and Boltzmann interferometers. Advances in technology have improved the range of frequencies, and output power levels and sensitivities since then but significant research is needed to be able to conclusively fill the Terahertz Gap. The synthesis and control of terahertz radiation, on the other hand has tremendous implications in a wide range of applications. [16– 19] . At these frequencies, solid state III-V and Si-based technologies coexist with vacuum tubes, backward wave oscillators, far infrared lasers and quantum cascade lasers, among many others to enable true terahertz operation. Solid-state solutions enable extensive and fast reconfigurability and are critical building blocks for such systems.

More specifically, phase conjugation is the reversal of a wavefront as it travels through a non-homogeneous medium while being distorted. The phase conjugated beam is thus retro-directed and has none of the distortions that the original signal beam underwent. At optical frequencies, phase conjugation finds applications in aberration correction, four wave degenerate mixing and stimulated Brioullin scattering among others [20, 21]. Phase conjugation also has applications in subwavelength diffraction limited imaging [22, 23], and there has been some success in demonstrating this use-case at terahertz frequencies using plasmonic nanoantennas loaded with non-linear elements [24]. At microwave frequencies, Fusco et. al demonstrated an active phase conjugating lens With sub-wavelength resolution capability at 2.4 GHz [25, 26]. Retrodirective arrays can also provide additional security in highly directional, high gain array systems [27, 28] and this has implications for future communication links that can exploit multipath effects to enhance the capacity of communications networks and achieve super-resolution using time reversal techniques [29, 30]. To the author's best knowledge, there have been no demonstrations of phase conjugate mixing at terahertz frequencies using transistor technologies.

The InP HBTs used in this latter part of the research have f_{max} in excess of 600 GHz [2, 13]. This coupled with the high breakdown voltage can enable myriad building blocks necessary for a system. The multilayer BEOL (back end of the line) wiring and backside metal processing also present interesting opportunities to synthesize novel EM structures. Fig. 1.2 details the layers in the process used in the first part of the thesis. The results from the first part of the research, combined with the integration and fabrication capabilities afforded by the foundry enable interesting co-design between circuit elements and antenna structures. The second part of this research focuses on the design, implementation and measurement of one such architecture for phase conjugation at terahertz frequencies. Quasi-optical methods are proposed to test the retro-directive action the setup. The design and characterization of a quadrupler in the 250nm InP HBT Teledyne process is also detailed. Next, a PCB implementation of a subharmonic mixer based phase conjugator using COTS diodes is also detailed.

1.2 Background of the research

Advances in technology scaling in silicon have enabled exceptional systems that integrate a wide range of functionality. Silicon based PAs however suffer from low gain and PAE (power added efficiency) at W band and higher. Given the lack of gain, it has been difficult to implement many of the techniques (digital power amplifiers,



Figure 1.2: (a)CE IV characteristics of a 0.13um HBT normalized to emitter area (b)Extrapolated ft, fmax vs Ic for 0.13x2um² for varying Vce (c) Thin film wiring environment [2]

switched passive networks etc.) [31, 32] that are possible at RF and lower mmwave frequencies [11].

InP provides excellent energy efficiency at these frequencies and higher. Prior art proposes using the CB to improve gain however, the need for a bias-tee and negative power supplies makes system integration more difficult [33, 34]. Prior and current art also looks at using classical power combining techniques using Wilkinson dividers and combiners [35]. Transistor scaling enables large-scale integration, but is also accompanied by an attendant lowering of breakdown voltages. The stacked PA is an excellent candidate for wideband power combining especially in scaled technologies. Cascode (and stacked topologies) have therefore been widely used in the design of single stages, and in distributed amplifiers [34, 36, 37].

As beyond 5G/6G systems proliferate, there is increasing emphasis on demonstrating the performance of such systems to real-world modulated signals. There is a plethora of research on mmwave and THz transmitters, receivers and transceivers that can achieve this [38, 39]. Power amplifiers (PA) are crucial building blocks in such systems and the response of the PA to modulated signals is a critical measure of the performance. Techniques to characterize this performance conventionally involve a high-bandwidth arbitrary waveform generator. We propose a different signal chain that obviates this need. This signal chain has the capability to be arbitrarily extended to higher frequencies, well into the true terahertz (> 300 GHz) while being extremely linear and supporting a wide variety of formats. A wideband stacked power amplifier is designed and implemented in the 130 nm InP HBT process from Teledyne Scientific [2, 40]. The proposed signal lineup is then used to characterize the performance of the amplifier.

There is also an ever persistent thrust to design higher output power amplifiers. Higher power can work to extend the detection range for imaging and radar applications. Previous work has focused on n-way power combining on chip, primarily 2-way and 4-way [41]. There are broad avenues for research into newer areas that



Figure 1.3: Schematic of the Rotman Lens [3]

can improve the efficiency and bandwidth of the combining network. A range of innovative power combining techniques have been developed at lower frequencies, spurred by advances in passive component fabrication that accompany the scaling of devices - including the Distributed Active Transformer (DAT) and broadband transformer based methods among many others [42, 43]. At upper mmwave frequencies, Wilkinson power combiners have been used as in [44, 45]. Transmission lone based combiners have also been used to implement 8:1 way combining as in [46]. These methods however suffer from narrow bandwidths. This work extends the DAT network to millimeter wave frequencies, using the stacked PA as the unit cell for the combining. The PA is a two-stage 8 way power combined design, and the compact geometry minimizes the imbalance from the inter-winding capacitance. The output is capacitively tuned for performance. The design achieves high output power, efficiency and bandwidth.

The research then builds on the results in the first part to develop an architecture for terahertz phase conjugation using the 250 nm InP HBT technology node from Teledyne Scientific Co. Retrodirective arrays have been demonstrated at C band upto Ka-band [47–50]. The self-phasing function of a retrodirective antenna gives it the ability to automatically track moving targets, and in eliminating the fading effects of multipath propagation [3, 51]. The simplest microwave retrodirective system is a corner cube reflector. However, these are non-conformal and do not integrate the complex electronics that can be used to process the impinging signal. The Van-attay array [52] is a conformal passive solution that makes use of array spacing to redirect the incoming signal with the appropriate phasing - but the incoming waves are restricted to be plane waves [49]. Phase conjugating circuits have been demonstrated up to 20 GHz using the Rotman Lens architecture [3, 53]. The terahertz spectrum provides interesting opportunities for the development of phase conjugating systems especially in sub-wavelength diffraction limited imaging, and in future terahertz communication links with additional security [27, 28].

This research proposes an architecture for active phase conjugation using a lowfrequency LO [6], on-chip quadrupler, and a fundamental micromixer. The system also integrates an on-chip frequency selective surface that enables spatial separation of the LO and interrogating RF beams into opposing hemispheres. The architecture has 4 "pixels" and each pixel is capable of simultaneously receiving and transmitting separated by polarization. Each pixel is hence a multifunctional T/R (transmit/receive) element. The architecture lends itself to natural extension to an array and is limited only by device performance and frequencies. The important issues that concern the architecture are space to implement electronics and mutual coupling between adjacent elements. The research also details the design of a quadrupler capable of being used for phase conjugation. The output of the quadrupler is close to the fmax of the devices used, and this opens up an interesting design space. This design space is explored using coupled lines, to improve the amplitude balance of an active balun used as one of the blocks, and to optimize the performance of the quadrupler mentioned above.

The research also details the design space for extracting maximal performance from circuits at frequencies close to the fmax of the transistors using coupled lines
[54]. These design techniques are used in the design of a mixer and quadrupler in the 250nm InP HBT process. Further, a custom interposer is designed in house in the UVA cleanroom and is used to supply DC bias to the circuits mentioned.

Next, an RF demonstration of phase conjugation using appropriately phased LO and RF signals on a PCB is detailed - including design considerations for subharmonic mixer based phase conjugators that utilize the 4th-harmonic of the LO for mixing. A novel metrology technique is used to quantify the phase conjugate signal itself as opposed to prior art that used frequency separation. There are previous demonstrations of art that use a LO at twice the RF frequency like [48-50, 55]. However as operating frequencies increase, the requirement of a high power source at twice the RF frequency can be difficult to meet. Subharmonic mixers operate at a fraction of the LO, based on the design and hence are easier to characterize. However, they typically also suffer from higher conversion loss (in the case of diode mixers specifically). In systems where this is not a critical drawback, this relaxed requirement can be used to the benefit of the overall system. Liu's work [56] detailed the use of an arbitrary number of phases of the LO to obtain the required order of mixing. [57] detailed work that used a LO at the same frequency as the RF. Frequency separation can be an issue in such designs if not accounted for appropriately. [58] detailed an array that operated at a fourth of the RF frequency. However, no design considerations were listed for obtaining an optimal conversion gain. [59] details an array with the LO at one half the frequency of the RF like our design, but these are integrated with antennas and no design decisions to minimize the conversion loss are enumerated. In essence, none of the previous work provide for a systematic design that idles the various "unwanted" frequencies at the various nodes, while providing an intrinsic separation between the RF and IF like we demonstrate.

1.3 Thesis Statement

This thesis aims to demonstrate that the building blocks necessary to implement phase conjugation at the upper millimeter wave frequencies can be implemented in InP HBT technology. Techniques for wide-band power amplifier design and modulation characterization at D-band are also introduced. The design techniques used in this research include the use of multi-functional EM blocks, circuit design methods that enable optimal performance at THz frequencies, the use of a frequency selective surface on chip, the development of a phase conjugating system architecture that is easily extensible to an array, the development of packaging tools that make interfacing to devices built on soft substrates more reliable, and the design of a PCB based phase conjugator using COTS (commercial off the shelf) diodes.

1.4 Research Questions

Research Question 1. How can a multi-frequency electromagnetic structure be co-designed with recently developed HBT-based circuit electronics to implement phase conjugation at sub-mmwave frequencies?

Research Question 2. How can dual-polarized antenna structures be employed to perform wavefront diplexing in simultaneous phase conjugating transmit/receive systems?

Research Question 3. Can coupled line structures be used to improve signal balance in active baluns at frequencies close to the transistor f_{max} ?

Research Question 4.How can the distributed active transformer method be extended to millimeter-wave frequencies for efficient power combining?

Research Question 5.How can MMICs that suffer from low pad adhesion to the substrates be reliably biased and characterized?

Research Question 6. How can the amount of phase conjugate signal present

in the system be quantitatively characterized using conventional RF measurement techniques

1.5 Research Contributions

This dissertation provides design analysis, characterization techniques and insight into newer methods of packaging that will enable the realm of terahertz systems and their deployment at scale. Specifically, the highlights of the thesis are listed below -

- 1. New techniques for characterization of the modulation performance of PAs above 100 GHz, and design and characterization aspects that influence the modulation performance.
- Power combined PA amplifier topologies for emerging applications above 100 GHz, specifically an extension of the Distributed Active Transformer technique for PAs above 100 GHz.
- 3. Design of architectures using integrated circuit fundamental mixers and harmonic generators for retro-reflective/phase-conjugation applications.
- 4. Demonstration of phase conjugation using subharmonic diode mixers on a RF printed circuit board using a quadrature hybrid.
- 5. An innovative metrology technique for the quantitative characterization of the phase conjugate signal using conventional RF measurement methods.
- 6. Co-design and fabrication of custom interposers/probe-cards that eliminate the need for wirebonding on pads that are supported by soft substrates that cannot be wirebonded to reliably.

1.6 Dissertation Organization

The remainder of this thesis is organized as follows:

• Chapter 2

This chapter presents the design of a stacked PA in the 130nm InP Teledyne process node. Small signal S parameter and large signal measurements are also detailed. The design decisions made, including the visualization and use of the intrinsic current generator as a useful design tool is presented. Modulation measurements are performed using commercial equipment, and the PA is measured with the modulation peak reaching saturated power numbers. A qualitative analysis of the factors impacting the modulation performance is detailed as are areas for future lines of inquiry.

• Chapter 3

This chapter presents the design of a distributed active transformer based PA reusing the stacked PA unit cell from the previous chapter. A theoretical framework to design a DAT PA at higher frequencies using asymmetric coupled lines is explored and a schematic model compares favorably with EM simulated results. The PA performs exceedingly well on various fronts, including small signal bandwidth and modulation results. Certain directions for future research are also detailed.

• Chapter 4

This chapter details the design and characterization of a phase conjugation capable system in the Teledyne InP 250nm node at 300 GHz. The chapter details the architecture of the antennas, the driving mechanisms, the schematic and design decisions underlying the various blocks, the characterization results and areas of learning. The array integrates 6 antennas and a multitude of circuit structures.

• Chapter 5

This chapter details the design and characterization of an on wafer quadrupler, and the design of a mixer at terahertz frequencies. This quadrupler is a component in the previous system and is vital in correlating the behavior of the system to the behavior of the individual circuit blocks. The chapter also details the design and fabrication of an on-chip interposer with beamleads used to supply DC bias.

• Chapter 6

This chapter details the design of a subharmonic phase conjugator using COTS diodes on a 2 layer FR4 PCB at RF frequencies, and the analysis and characterization efforts. A metrology technique and analysis is introduced and can serve as a vital tool for comprehensive chracterization of the behavior of the circuit as a phase conjugator instead of using separation in frequencies as a distinction tool.

• Chapter 7

This chapter includes some conclusions that connect these threads together, and some recommendations for areas of future research.

1.7 Exhaustive List of publications (published and submitted)

- V. Iyer, J. Sheth, L. Zhang, R. M. Weikle and S. M. Bowers, "A 15.3-dBm, 18.3% PAE F-Band Power Amplifier in 130-nm InP HBT With Modulation Measurements," in IEEE Microwave and Wireless Technology Letters, vol. 33, no. 5, pp. 547-550, May 2023.
- L. Zhang, V. Iyer, J. Sheth, L. Xie, R. M. Weikle and S. M. Bowers, "A 117.5-130 GHz 22.1 dBm 11.5% PAE DAT Based Power Amplifier in InP 130 nm HBT

Technology," 2021 16th European Microwave Integrated Circuits Conference (EuMIC), London, United Kingdom, 2022, pp. 229-232, doi: 10.23919/Eu-MIC50153.2022.9783740.

- V. Iyer, J. Sheth, L. Zhang, R. M. Weikle and S. Bowers, "A 90-125 GHz Stacked PA in 130 nm InP HBT with 18.3 % peak PAE at 15.3 dBm Output Power," 2022 United States National Committee of URSI National Radio Science Meeting (USNC-URSI NRSM), Boulder, CO, USA, 2022, pp. 224-225.
- L. Zhang, V. Iyer, J. Sheth, L. Xie, R. M. Weikle and S. M. Bowers, "F Band Distributed Active Transformer Power Amplifier Achieving 12 Gbps in InP 130 nm HBT" submitted to the IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques, May 2023.
- J. Sheth, L. Zhang, X. Shen, V. Iyer, S.M. Bowers, "A Current-Mode Multi-Phase Digital Transmitter With a Single Footprint Transformer-Based Asymmetric Doherty Output Network" submitted to IEEE Open Journal of the Solid-State Circuits Society, May 2023.

Chapter 2

Efficient wideband medium power amplifiers for beyond 100 GHz operation - Design and characterization techniques

2.1 Introduction

Power amplifiers (PA) are crucial building blocks in a variety of applications and influence system efficiency and performance metrics. F and D-band power amplifiers (90 to 140 GHz and 110 to 170 GHz respectively) specifically have use in short range applications such as inter-chip communications, and in millimeter wave front-haul and back-haul for communication systems [60]. The stacked PA topology is an attractive candidate to simultaneously optimize gain, output power and power added efficiency (PAE) in scaled technologies [37, 61]. Advances in silicon and III-V technologies have also enabled the realisation of complete transmitter chains capable of high data rates at moderate to high effective isotropic radiated power (EIRP). There have been previous demonstrations of complete transmitters at D-band, but these

Efficient wideband medium power amplifiers for beyond 100 GHz operation -28 Design and characterization techniques

systems used custom integrated circuits to perform modulation [62–66]. There is value in being able to characterize the performance of individual circuit blocks using commercial equipment as millimeterwave systems proliferate.

This work presents a custom-built modulation chain using commercial equipment as shown in Fig. 2.1, that is used to characterize the behavior of stand-alone circuit blocks like PA at 121 GHz, across a range of power levels. Next, the design and characterization of an example wideband stacked PA in a 130nm InP process is detailed. The stacked power amplifier [67] has a peak |S21| of 11.7 dB, peak PAE of 18.3%, a 3-dB bandwidth from 90-135 GHz and gain greater than 8.8 dB from 90-140 GHz. The PA has at least 10 dB of gain from 95-130 GHz. The PA stages and interstage network are designed so as to have a loadline match close to 50 Ω . The amplifier is capable of data rates of 500 MSPS 16 QAM with an RMS EVM (Error Vector Magnitude) of 5.8% and average PAE of 5.2% at an average output power level of 8.2 dBm, and 5 GSPS QPSK with an RMS EVM of 14.3% at an average output power of 7.8 dBm with a PAPR (peak to average power ratio) of 6.3 dB. Using a low frequency Arbitrary Waveform Generator (AWG), this chain is also capable of being extended to higher frequencies and higher modulation bandwidths like 64-QAM, at higher Psat than the Tx module used in[68].

2.2 Modulation chain

This demonstration was designed at a center frequency of 121 GHz. On the transmitter side, a Keysight E8257D signal generator is used to produce a LO for a WR8 VDI Signal Extender (SGX) at 37 GHz. The SGX (x3) multiplies the signal up to the WR8 band. A Keysight M8190A AWG is used to generate baseband I/Q data which is then used to drive a Marki IQ mixer (MMIQ 0520HS). The LO input to the IQ mixer is powered by an E8257D at 10 GHz. The signal multiplied up by the WR8 extender is mixed with the RF output of the Marki IQ mixer using a VDI



Figure 2.1: 121 GHz modulation measurement setup depicting the flow of various signals and components. Waveguide connections are colored blue.



Figure 2.2: EVM performance of the chain without the DUT across modulation formats. The measured EVM at 5 GHz QPSK is 7.7%.

Fundamental Mixer. The output of the mixer is connected to a VDI bandpass mesh filter that passes the 121 GHz modulated signal. The image at 101 GHz is rejected by more than 50 dB. The modulated signal at 121 GHz passes through a waveguide attenuator, and is then amplified using a VDI WR8 amplifier to ensure the PA DUT (device under test) can be saturated to peak output power. The P1dB of the VDI amplifier is 13 dBm. The combination of the attenuator and VDI amplifier enables measurements for the DUT at various back-off power levels. On the receiver side,

Efficient wideband medium power amplifiers for beyond 100 GHz operation -30 Design and characterization techniques

the signal from the probe is sent to a waveguide 10 dB directional coupler. The coupled output is connected to a PM5 power meter. The IF output of the SAX (centered at 3 GHz) is connected to a Keysight MXR608A 6 GHz scope. The scope runs the Vector Signal Analyzer (VSA) software and is used to analyse the waveform and look at the RMS EVM numbers. The 10 MHz reference clock on all Keysight equipment is connected together, with the oscilloscope clock output acting as the master. The chain is characterized without the probes and DUT to understand the effects on the measurements of the DUT's EVM performance. As shown in Fig 2.2, this wideband chain is capable of up and down-converting a low power 1500 MSPS 16 QAM signal with an EVM of 2.8%, a 300 MSPS 64QAM signal with an EVM of 5.5% and a 5 GSPS QPSK signal with an EVM of 7.7%. An adaptive equalization generated by the Keysight VSA is applied to this chain (without the PA).

2.3 Power Amplifier design

2.3.1 Transistor Characterization and intrinsic loadline analysis

The single stage large signal power gain at frequencies greater than 100 GHz is typically low and amplifiers usually have multiple stages [11]. The stacked amplifier topology[69–72] is an excellent design choice for increasing output power and gain while ensuring all devices stay within their safe operating area (SOA) limit. This power amplifier was fabricated in the Teledyne 130 nm InP HBT process (f_t/f_{max} in excess of 500 GHz/1 THz) [73, 74]. The BVCE_O is 3.5 V. The technology has 3 metal layers and Metal-Insulator-Metal (MIM) capacitors. Fig. 2.6 (b) compares the Maximum Stable Gain (the maximum stable gain that can be achieved by a potentially unstable device) for the cascode, CE, CB and stacked topologies for a unit transistor with an emitter length of 6 µm. In the stacked PA, a common emitter (CE) stage drives a common base (CB) stage, with an interstage matching network in between so the voltage across the two stages swing in phase. The capacitance at the base



Figure 2.3: Packaged large-signal equivalent circuit. The red, light blue, dark blue, and black boxes define the current reference plane (CRP), extrinsic reference plane (ERP), package reference plane (PRP), and measurement reference plane(MRP), respectively [4].

of the CB stage is designed in conjunction with the interstage transmission line to ensure optimal phasing as shown in Fig. 2.6 (d).

Most transistor PDK (process design kit) are usually physics based and need extensive simulations to fit the parameters to a model. Power amplifier designers benefit from a first fit and from looking at the intrinsic loadline [4, 75, 76]. The intrinsic loadline can be complicated to simulate, especially in a packaged transistor with multiple parasitic components leading from the package reference plane to the internal transistor reference plane [4]. Fig. 2.3 details the various layers in a typical packaged part and the extensive parasitic accompanying the component. In a typical design, the waveforms at the intrinsic current generator plane are simulated, analysed and modified using the matching network and terminations until the overlap between the voltage and current is minimized - this guarantees minimal power dissipation in the transistor itself. It is notable that for the purposes of the designs in this and the succeeding chapter, a single or multi-tone Harmonic Balance simulation was used. The multi-tone simulation was used to check for oscillations as detailed in the section on stability 2.3.3. This means that the circuit was solved under a quasi-static assumption and this is comprehensive enough to get convergence on a design to a significant level.

Fig. 2.4 from [4] details these waveforms at the various planes and how the par-

Efficient wideband medium power amplifiers for beyond 100 GHz operation -32 Design and characterization techniques

asitic at each layer modifies the waveform, thus masking useful information about the operation of the device. This device modelling is a huge area of research in itself including the use of artificial neural networks [77]. A simpler approach is adopted in this design. A transistor biased at class A was simulated using Keysight ADS and the S parameters were fit to arrive at values for the capacitance between the various nodes as shown in 2.5 (a). A simple model consisting of purely the intrinsic part was used for this purpose as is detailed in 2.5 (b). It is notable that the change in the average value of the capacitance with input power levels is not reflected in this analysis. However, to the first order, this suffices to arrive at the waveforms at the intrinsic current generator reference plane and to look at the distortion from the intended loadline at the terminal of the device. It is upto the designer to ensure that none of the breakdown limits are exceeded - as these are nominally specified at the terminals of the device, and the optimized waveform can sometimes exceed these limits at the terminals. A voltage bias is used for the purpose of this analysis.

The equations used to arrive at the capacitance are detailed here, where f represents the frequency of operation [78]. For the sake of brevity, the metric most commonly used to characterize power amplifiers, and quite possibly for any block that consumes DC power and provides fundamental gain - the Power Added Efficiency (PAE) in % is also detailed here (where P_{out} , P_{in} and P_{dc} are the output and available input power, and the DC power consumed at that level of excitation.

$$Cbc = -im(Y(1,2))/(2\pi * f)$$
 (2.1)

$$Cbe = (im(Y(1,1))/2\pi * f) - Cbc$$
 (2.2)

$$Cce = (im(Y(2,2))/2\pi * f) - Cbc$$
 (2.3)

$$Cce = (im(Y(2,2))/2\pi * f) - Cbc$$
 (2.4)

$$Cce = (im(Y(2,2))/2\pi * f) - Cbc$$
 (2.5)



Figure 2.4: Simulated 2-GHz load lines and waveforms at the CRPs (a) and (e), respectively, are embedded to the ERPs in (b) and (f), the PRPs in (c) and (g). [4].

$$PAE = (P_{\rm out} - P_{\rm in})/P_{\rm dc}$$
(2.6)

2.3.2 Loadpull analysis and EM simulations

The design proceeds by using the model to present the required loadline impedance at the current generator plane. This is then transformed to 50 *Omega* at the center frequency. The impedance derived from the loadline analysis does not account for the significant efficiency gain from clipping and the highly non-linear nature of the capacitances at high drive levels. This first pass design is then refined using a loadpull simulation to refine results. Next, a second stage is added to the CE transistor with an appropriate interstage matching network. There are multiple design space options to effectively and efficiently phase the signals at the various nodes - a series microstrip transmission line was used in this case. This was found to be efficient at the center frequency but this changes as the frequency of operation changes. All electromagnetic simulations are performed in the Ansys HFSS (High frequency structure simulator). Fig. 2.6 (a) compares the simulated load pull contour between



Figure 2.5: (a) Simulation set up used to arrive at the de-embedding capacitances (b) Model used to simulate the current at the intrinsic waveform generator plane.

a class A CE (i) and the stacked power amplifier (ii) at 125 GHz at various levels of compression. Fig. 2.6 (c) shows the architecture of the design. Radial stubs are used in this design for broadband bias insensitivity. The transistors in the CB stage are laid out with the bases in proximity so as to minimize stray inductance and prevent instability. The series capacitors are EM simulated in isolation before insertion into the matching networks. Each stage in the CE and stacked PA consists of four transistors, with an emitter length of 6 μ m each. The optimum load impedance for the CE amplifier is 10+j15 Ω for peak efficiency. Matching this impedance to 50 Ω requires high-Q components, and is difficult to design with broad bandwidth. The optimum load impedance for the stacked PA design is 60+j40 Ω , making a broadband match easier to implement. The simulated output network passive efficiency exceeds 80% for the WR8 band. The simulated interstage and output matching network loss are 0.9 dB and 0.7 dB at 125 GHz. A 65 fF capacitor was used at the base of the cascode stage and a 150 Ω resistor (Rb) was used to both thermally ballast and electrically stabilize the PA, as shown in Fig. 2.6(c).



Figure 2.6: (a) Loadpull contours for class A (i) CE (Common Emitter) (ii) Stacked PA (Power amplifier). Each stage in the CE and stacked PA was comprised of 4 transistors, each 6 µm long (b) MSG (Maximum Stable Gain) comparison for the CE, CB and stacked topology. (c) Schematic of the stacked PA (d) Collector voltage waveform at the two nodes (e) Die photo of the stacked PA.

2.3.3 Stability analysis

The K and Rollet factor analyses are unable to capture instability in amplifiers that have more than just a single input and output node, i.e in amplifiers that have multiple stages or ones that have intermediate nodes. This is because an instability at the intermediate node Amplifiers operating at power levels that vary significantly in operation can also suffer from parametric oscillations and bifurcations, especially at $f_0/2$. There is also a potential for an onset of instability without the amplifier being excited while at quiescent bias. In this work, stability is checked using the small signal method mentioned above, and by using a large signal auxiliary generator method [79, 80]. A 150 Ω resistor is seen to guarantee stability in all the analyses, and is used in the design.



Figure 2.7: Simulated and measured S-parameters of the PA showing a 3 dB gain bandwidth of 45 GHz.

2.4 Measurements and results

2.4.1 CW measurements

A die photo is shown in Fig. 2.6 (e). The small signal S parameters were measured across two bands - WR8 and WR5, using Virginia Diode Inc. (VDI) Vector Network Analyzer Extenders (VNAx) interfaced to a Keysight PXA Vector Network Analyzer (VNA). The small signal S parameters (simulated and measured) are shown in Fig. 2.7 (c). The peak measured gain is 11.7 dB at 112.5 GHz and exceeds 10 dB from 95 to 130 GHz.

Large signal measurements were performed from 90 GHz to 140 GHz. A Keysight signal generator connected to a VDI WR8 tripler (WR8.0X3) followed by a VDI amplifier is used to drive the input of the power amplifier. The output power is measured using a VDI PM5 power meter. The PA saturates at 8.5 dBm available input power. Fig. 2.8 (a) plots the measured and simulated peak PAE (%), and output power at peak PAE (dBm) across frequency. The measured peak PAE is 18.3%, and the peak output power is 15.3 dBm, at 112.5 GHz. Fig. 2.8 (b) plots the the simulated and measured gain (dB), output power (dBm) and PAE (%) at 112.5 GHz against available input power, showing 7 dB of gain at peak PAE.



Figure 2.8: Large signal (a) Measured and simulated output power at maximum PAE (%), and maximum PAE (%) (b) Measured and simulated gain (dB), output Power (dBm) and PAE (%) at 112.5 GHz - with a peak PAE and output power at peak PAE, of 18.3 % and 15.3 dBm.

2.4.2 Modulation measurements

Modulation measurements are performed at 121 GHz using the setup in Fig. 2.1. The complete signal chain, without the DUT is equalized across power levels using the VSA software and input power numbers are noted. The stimulus generated is then applied to the chain with the PA. The PA performance is measured up to 5 GSPS QPSK, limited by the equipment - specifically the sampling speed of the AWG. The PA output power and modulation performance are simultaneously measured to arrive at PAE numbers. Demonstrative results are plotted in Fig. 2.9 (a) and (b) for 500 MSPS 16QAM and 5 GSPS QPSK respectively. The trends across average output power level are plotted in Fig. 2.9 (c). The EVM is 14.3% for 5 GSPS QPSK (PAPR of 6.3 dB), operating at an average power of 7.8 dBm - the output power at maximum PAE at 120 GHz is 14.2 dBm. Table 2.1 compares the performance of the PA with prior stand-alone power amplifiers operating at frequencies greater than 100 GHz.

Efficient wideband medium power amplifiers for beyond 100 GHz operation -38 Design and characterization techniques



Figure 2.9: Constellations for (a) 500 MSPS 16 QAM and (b) 5 GSPS QPSK. (c) Performance across average output power (dBm), depicting 14 % EVM for 5 GSPS QPSK.

The PA achieves a maximum data rate at state-of-the-art levels while at a higher output power.

2.5 Conclusion and areas for further research

This work presents a scalable modulation chain built using commercial equipment at 121 GHz and its demonstration using a 130nm InP HBT PA. This chain is capable of being extended to higher frequencies, and coupled with the excellent small signal linearity of the VDI frequency translation blocks can open a path to standardizing modulation performance characterization for both transmitter and receiver modules. The PA has a 3 dB small signal gain BW from 90 GHz to 135 GHz with a peak gain of 11.7 dB, peak PAE of 18.3% and peak power of 15.3 dBm at 112.5 GHz. These results demonstrate the highest data rate for stand alone power amplifiers operating at frequencies greater than 100 GHz, at peak output power greater than 10 dBm using commercially available equipment.

One of the key aspects of a good design starts with a holistic fitting of the transistor parameters to a model, and specifically for power amplifiers - a good thermal model. This was not provided by the foundry and an estimate based on past designs was used for the ballast resistor. The ballast resistor has a significant impact on the poles at the base of the two stages, and hence by extension on the performance at large signal especially when modulated using a wideband signal like this design was. A future line of inquiry could also concentrate on using a simulator like ADS to run a two tone harmonic balance to understand memory effects [78], and to also simulate a wide band modulation excitation to correlate measurement results with the expected results. A future design could benefit from the development of a thermal model with parameters that are coupled with the electrical model like many other foundries provide.

One of the key challenges in obtaining good wideband performance is in maintaining excellent thermal stability across the periphery of the device. This design was characterized on a PCB made from FR4. Although the copper ground plane on the second layer is flooded, the FR4 performs worse as a thermal conductor compared to other ceramic substrates. Future work could also benefit from an analysis of better packaging mechanisms that are able to dissipate the heat generated in the device more efficiently.

2.6 Personal Contributions

- Led the design effort for the PA block including small and large signal instability analyses.
- Led the characterization effort at small signal and CW large signal.
- Led the design of the modulation chain and characterization of the PA using

Table 2.1: Table of comparison for stand-alone PAs/Front-Ends at greater than 100GHz

| Ref. | This Work | | [68] | [81] | [62] /[82] | |
|----------------------|------------|---------|----------------|-------------|------------|--------|
| Pout 1dB | 97.5-122.5 | | 107-135** | 147-153.5** | 125-145** | |
| BW (GHz) | | | | | | |
| Technology | 130nm InP | | 130nm SiGe | 45nm | 250nm InP | |
| | | | | CMOS SOI | +CMOS | |
| PA Topology | 1 stg. | | 8 way slotline | Tx FE. | 4 way | |
| | stacked | | comb. Doherty | | combined | |
| Psat (dBm) | 15.3 | | 22.7 | 1.9 | 17 | |
| Peak PAE (%) | 18.3 | | 18.7 | 11** | 20 | |
| @ (GHz) | 112.5 | | 110 | 149.9 | | |
| Peak S21 (dB) | 11.7 | | 21.8 | 22.5** | 20 | |
| Mod. Freq. | 121 GHz | | 131.5 GHz | 150.7 GHz | 135 GHz | |
| Mod. Format | 16 QAM | QPSK | 16 QAM | 64 QAM | 64QAM | 16QAM |
| Data rate | 2 | 10 | 8 | 10.56 | 6 | 4 |
| (Gb/s) | | | | | | |
| EVM | 5.8% | 14.3% | 11.6% | 9.5% | 12%** | 12%** |
| PAE _{avg} | 5.2% | | 7.9% | | | |
| Poutavg | 8.2 dBm | 7.8 dBm | 13.7 dBm | 0.1 dBm | | |
| Pout _{peak} | | | | | 11 dBm | 11 dBm |

**Estimated from plots

this chain.

• Led the manuscript writing and review response efforts.

2.6.1 Acknowledgements

Jay Sheth, Linsheng Zhang, Robert M. Weikle, Steven M. Bowers, Travis Blalock, Jeffrey Hesler

Chapter 3

DAT - A millimeterwave extension : Analysis and characterization

3.1 Introduction

This chapter details the design and analysis of an extension of the Distributed Active Transformer power amplifier to millimeter wave frequencies using asymmetric coupled lines. An exhaustive level of detail of all the design decisions made are explored in this chapter. The DAT PA uses the stacked PA from the previous chapter as the unit cells for the driver and power stages.

Several PAs have been implemented using InP technology above 100 GHz with peak output power up to 24 dBm [83–88]. On-chip power combiners are used to further increase the output power from a single stage PA. [84, 86] use Wilkinson based power combiners for reasons of stability and low loss performance. Tline based one like and [85, 87] typically have even lower loss since the lines are shorter than a quarter of a wavelength. However, they typically suffer from a lower operating bandwidth. The Distributed Active Transformer (DAT) is a compact and lowloss power combining technique [89] and has been developed up to 77 GHz [90, 91]. However, further use of this technique is limited by the parasitics at higher frequen-



Figure 3.1: Coupled inductors model of the DAT power combining topology (top), and proposed 2-stage DAT PA with single-ended output (bottom).

cies. This paper extends the DAT operation frequency up to 120 GHz with efficient 8-to-1 power combining with the help of the proposed asymmetrical coupled transmission line (Cline) model. This chapter details the design and characterization of a DAT bsed PA capable of a peak 22.1 dBm output power and 11.5% PAE [92].

The chapter is organized as described below. Section 3.2, introduces the design, analysis of the limitations of the DAT architecture, and proposes a high-frequency model. Further, the block-level design details and analysis are shown in Sections 3.3, 3.4, and 3.5. The measurement setup and the results are shown in section 3.6. Section 3.7 concludes this work.

3.2 DAT design and model

As is evident in Fig. 3.1, the DAT is primarily modeled with coupled inductors. A number of n individual primary inductors are voltage combined to achieve n times voltage and power on the secondary side. Due to the differential operation on the

primary input, the center of the inductor acts as a virtual short at the fundamental and all odd harmonics. Thus the DC supply can connect directly to this point without a bias tee or quarter-wave transmission line to improve efficiency. This is of course under the caveat that the bias line does not impact the behavior at even harmonics significantly - something that the designer needs to keep in mind. The traditional transformer-based model is only valid at RF frequencies, because the size of the transformer should be considerably smaller than a wavelength to avoid any distributed effects. In addition, the inter-winding capacitance between primary and secondary can be neglected only at lower frequencies. As frequencies increase, these factors become increasingly important. Certain capacitance and self-inductance can be added to the model to improve its accuracy up to 100 GHz [93]. However, this requires a complex model with many parameters, and decreases in accuracy for large bandwidth applications [93].

Fig. 3.1 shows the block diagram of the proposed power amplifier. The input signal is converted into differential signals by a balun and fed to the driver stage. The output power of each driver is divided equally into four parts by a Tline-based power splitter to drive four power units that also serves as the impedance matching network. An 8-to-1 DAT is implemented as an output matching network to combine power and output a single-ended signal to make the configuration a single ended input to single ended output amplifier.

3.2.1 Fully differential configuration

To further extend the DAT to higher frequencies, a Cline model and the proposed fully differential 8-to-1 DAT (n=4) are introduced in Fig. 3.2. Each side is modeled as two coupled lines. Certain simplifications are introduced to make the model easier to work with. Asymmetric coupled lines are used in the model since the primary and secondary windings are not symmetric in our implementation - these are on different metal layers. [5] introduced theory for asymmetrical coupled line and its

lumped-element equivalent. Resistors are inserted to model metal losses in the lines as shown in Fig. 3.2. *C*1, *C*2, and *L*1, *L*2 represent the self-capacitance and inductance of each line. C_m and L_m are the mutual capacitance and inductance between the two lines. The impedance presented to the PA can be realized by choosing the proper parameters within certain constraints owing to DRC (design rule check) limits. The primary winding is between port 3 (P3) and port 4 (P4) and the secondary winding is between port 1(P1) and port 2 (P2). The primary capacitance $C_2 - C_m$ is 1.8x of the $C_1 - C_m$ as expected because the primary is closer to the ground. Thus, this cannot be simply modeled with a symmetrical coupled line requiring C1 = C2and L1 = L2 and requires the use of this asymmetric model.



Figure 3.2: Asymmetric coupled line model[5] applied in the DAT and its corresponding layout.

There are typically two dominant mechanisms for coupling in coupled lines - broadside and edge based coupling. Considering that capacitive coupling contributes to the inter-winding capacitance, the broadside coupled lines are offset in this design. To evaluate the tradeoffs between these two configurations, a 68 μ m long, 20 μ m wide edge-coupled couple line on M3 with the minimum spacing allowed by the technology, and an identically sized broadside coupled line on M2 and M3 with 16 μ m offset are simulated using HFSS. While the area of the edge coupled lines are 22% higher than the broadside coupled lines, the loss is only 0.3 dB lower. In this implementation, broadside coupled laterally-offset traces on M2 and M3 are chosen for a compact layout for the actual DAT itself. M1 is chosen as the global ground and the ground underneath the DAT is carved out. The Cline model with a 4 μ m overlap is used to match the C_m in the lumped-element model. The center of each primary is used to introduce DC bias. At the differential output of the DAT, two series load capacitors each with a capacitance of 17 fF are used for matching. The full DAT structure is simulated in Ansys HFSS and the S-parameter results are compared to the proposed Cline model in Fig. 3.3. The model and the EM simulated structure agree exceedingly well showing the efficacy of the model while being simple enough to use and intuitively understand.

3.2.2 Conversion to single-ended output

A Marchand balun would be area intensive and contribute to loss at the output. Unlike at the input, a balun at the output has a direct bearing on the performance of the PA since this is after the gain stages and before the output, and hence cannot be accounted for merely by an increase in input power. In simulations of the differential output configuration, the efficiency of the DAT including the input impedance mismatch, is found to be 88%. However, if a balun were to be used and if a perfect match was achieved between the DAT and the balun, the maximum achievable efficiency would be drop to 55.5%. The DAT's operation relies on the input and output operating in a differential fashion to maintain symmetry. Merely keeping one of the secondary terminals open or shorting would have increased the imbalance seen by the various stages at the various points. A small shunt capacitor is used at the output to replace the combination of the series capacitance and a 50 Ω load resistor to achieve better performance, while avoiding power dissipation in the dummy load.





Frequency (5-140 GHz)

Figure 3.3: Comparison of simulated input impedance of the differential DAT between the Asymmetrical Cline model and the EM model.

The simulated passive efficiency and total efficiency versus the value of the shunt capacitor are plotted in Fig. 3.4. The simulation is conducted using an available power of 0 dBm for each input, with the power source impedance set to the conjugate of the simulated load-pull input impedance of the PA unit. Three different models are compared, including the Ansys HFSS EM simulated model, asymmetrical Cline model, and symmetrical Cline model. The symmetrical Cline model parameter chooses the average value of asymmetrical parameters - here, L = (L1 + L2)/2. The asymmetrical Cline model presents similar results as the EM simulated model, while the symmetrical Cline model yields a peak efficiency at 2 fF, which is primarily from the inaccuracy due to the assumption of *C*1 being equal to *C*2. With the asymmetrical Cline model, the single-ended DAT achieves 72% peak total efficiency with an 8 fF shunt capacitor and is 1 dB better than using an area-expensive balun.



Figure 3.4: The passive efficiency and total efficiency vs the shunt capacitor value of DAT EM model, asymmetrical Cline model, and symmetrical Cline model.

The total efficiency changes more significantly than the passive efficiency change when the shunt capacitor value increases. This confirms that the shunt capacitor primarily helps with impedance matching as expected. Using this capacitive termination technique, the DAT in differential operation can be converted to the singleended operation while maintaining high efficiency with minimal area overhead.

After the final design, the entire DAT PA is simulated in the Ansys HFSS FEM simulator, including the bias networks and interstage matching. A customized 8 fF parallel plate capacitor between M2 and M1 is used to terminate one of the outputs as shown in Fig. 3.1. The DAT achieved a simulated loss of 1.16 dB at 135 GHz as shown in Fig. 3.5. In addition, the simulated loss including metal loss and impedance mismatch is less than 1.3 dB from 120 GHz to 140 GHz.



Figure 3.5: HFSS EM Simulated DAT loss and interstage loss including the metal loss and impedance mismatch.

3.3 Single stage PA design

The PA is implemented in the Teledyne InP 130 nm HBT technology with a breakdown voltage BV_CEO of 3.5 V, and a typical DC beta ~18. Simulated f_t/f_{max} is 521 GHz/1.15 THz[94]. Each HBT symbol in the schematic represents four HBTs in parallel, each 6 μ m wide. The transistor embedding structures and Tlines are simulated in the Keysight Momentum EM simulator and include all the effects from the metal connection to the HBT, base capacitor, and quarter wavelength bias line. The load-pull impedance is 22+23j Ω as shown in Fig. 3.6 and the source impedance is 4+5j Ω . The peak achievable PAE is 25.9% with 14.7 dBm output power at 120 GHz. The differential driver unit adopts the same stacked structure, but the input impedance is matched to 50 Ω with the additional input matching network. Each driver unit drives four power units. A 5 Ω resistor is added to the emitter in the driver stage to quash potential common mode oscillations that were seen from a stability analsys in Keysight ADS. The additional DC power from the drop across the 5 Ω resistor lowers the PAE by less than 1 % in this specific implementation.



Figure 3.6: Schematic of the proposed stacked PA unit and the load pull simulation of the power unit.

3.4 Power splitter design

A Tline-based structure is adopted for the power splitter, and the output of the driver unit is directly matched to the input of the power unit as shown in Fig. 3.7. The adopted geometry is fully symmetric along the x-axis in the figure, to ensure that all of the differential signal paths are delayed equally. In addition, the electrical length of each Tline section are designed to be the same irrespective of asymmetry across the y-axis.

The InP 130 nm technology used in this design only offers three metal layers. The distance from M3 to M1 is much larger than the distance from M2 to M1. A Microstrip transmission line (Tline) with M1 ground shows substantially different characteristic impedance for an identically sized signal line on M2 compared to M3. Reducing the width of the M2 traces helps but is limited by the design rule checking (DRC) in this design. The crossover of M2 and M3 would cause impedance and phase imbalance and degrade the PA output power and efficiency if they are not



Figure 3.7: Proposed 2-to-8 power splitter co-designed with PA.

taken into account. Therefore, ground cuts are implemented at the crossover region to reduce the mismatch. The waveforms of each power splitter output, when inputs are driven differentially, are shown in Fig. 3.8. The ground-cut version has a higher amplitude and has improved phase balance proving the efficacy of the methodology adopted. Since the power splitter is AC coupled to the output of the driver stage and DC coupled to the input of the power unit, the base bias of the CE HBT in the power stage is injected at the low impedance locations on the power splitter with a quarter-wave Tline to the DC pad. This eliminates the need to design a complex bias network near the active region. The EM simulated loss is ~2.5 dB to 4 dB and includes the metal loss and impedance mismatch, as shown in Fig. 3.5.

3.5 Input Balun Design

The single-ended input signal is converted to a differential signal by a Marchand balun and fed to the driver. In order to increase coupling, the balun is designed with signals on M1 and M2 while using M3 as ground. Since the remainder of the circuit uses M1 as ground, the ground plane is transitioned from M3 to M1 as shown in Fig. 3.9a, and this is included in the EM simulation of the balun. The simulated balun has less than 0.49 dB amplitude imbalance and less than 3.7 degree phase imbalance across 120 GHz to 140 GHz as shown in Fig. 3.9b. The excess loss at each



Without ground cut at the cross overs

Figure 3.8: A comparison of the splitter output without and with the ground cut applied.

output at 130 GHz is 1.9 dB and 1.7 dB for the two output ports respectively, and is less than 3 dB across 120 GHz to 140 GHz. All the ports are matched to 50 Ω and the simulated |S11| is less than -10 dB |S11| across from 125 GHz to 140 GHz.

3.6 Measurement Results

3.6.1 Small signal measurements

The design is fabricated in Teledyne's InP 130nm technology is shown in Fig. 3.10. The chip occupies 1.86 mm * 1.56 mm including pads. The core DAT only occupies 0.5 mm * 0.36 mm, and most of the chip area is occupied by the power splitter. Thru substrate vias are systematically placed over the entire chip to eliminate possible substrate modes. All the measurements are performed on a MPI TS150-THZ probe station. The chip is biased through MPI Multi-Contact Probes. Formfactor



Figure 3.9: (a) Marchand balun layout showing the ground plane change. (b) EM simulated |S| parameter and phase imbalance of the balun.

WR-8 Infinity GSG probes are used at the RF input and output pads. The power stage consumes 215 mA DC current at 3.55 V VCC. Due to the additional emitter resistance at the driver stage, the driver stage has a higher base bias and supply voltage. It consumes 63 mA current at 4.1 V supply.

S-parameters are measured by using the Keysight PNA-X Vector Network Analyzer and WR8 VDI VNA extenders. The signal is attenuated by a waveguide attenuator at the input to ensure small signal operation. An on-die TRL cal standard set was used for calibration. The measured S-parameter is shown in Fig. 3.11. The implemented PA achieves 40 GHz 3dB small signal bandwidth from 100 GHz to 140 GHz and 17.77 dB peak |S21|at 133.75 GHz. Furthermore, the PA is unconditionally stable across the entire F band in measurements.



Figure 3.10: Die photo of the proposed DAT-based PA.



Figure 3.11: Measured and simulated S-parameter from 90 GHz to 140 GHz.

3.6.2 Large signal measurements

The measurement setup is shown in Fig. 3.12a. The input signal from the Keysight signal generator is upconverted to the F band with a VDI tripler. A VDI WR9 amplifier is inserted to drive the PA to saturation. A VDI PM5 power meter is used to measure the output power. The probe loss is calibrated out by landing probes on a short through. The measured output power, gain, and PAE versus available input power at 120 GHz are shown in Fig. 3.12b. The measurement matches the HFSS simulation within 0.6 dB. The PA achieves 22.1 dBm peak output power with 11.5% PAE and 8.6 dB large signal gain at 120 GHz. The measured output power (Psat) and PAE vs frequency is shown in Fig. 3.12c. The prototype PA achieves 117.5 - 130 GHz Psat 1-dB bandwidth. The output 1 dB compression is

20.3 dBm with 8.7% PAE and 13.8 dB gain. The upper frequency limit of the measurement is limited by the bandwidth of the WR9 amplifier. The PA has larger than 20 dBm saturated output power from 115 GHz to 130 GHz with PAE higher than 7%.

3.6.3 Modulation results

The modulation measurement setup is shown in Fig. 3.13[95]. The baseband I/Q signals are connected to the mixer with a pair of phase-matched cables to the Marki IQ mixer (MMIQ 0520HS), and up-converted to 10 GHz first. 111 GHz carrier is generated by a VDI SGX as a frequency tripler with a 37 GHz signal source. An attenuator is inserted after the SGX to provide appropriate LO power to the input of the mixer. Then the 10 GHz signal is upconverted to 121 GHz by the VDI WR8.0 BAM mixer. The VDI WR6.5BPF filters out the image for linearity consideration. After the signal is amplified by the device under test (DUT), 1/10 of the power is coupled to the PM5 power meter to measure the output power. The rest of the signal is further down-converted to 4 GHz to fully utilize the 8 GHz bandwidth of Keysight's DSO804A oscilloscope, where the signal is demodulated by using Keysight Vector Signal Analysis (VSA). Finally, PSG E8257D's 10 MHz reference is connected to the rest of the signal generators, M8190 arbitrary waveform generator (AWG), and the oscilloscope's external clock to sync the system.

The measurement setup without DUT is equalized to eliminate the channel distortion from the setup itself. Due to the output power limitation of the equipment, the modulation is measured at the backoff region of the PA. The measured 16 QAM, 64 QAM, and QPSK modulation results are shown in Fig. 3.14. The root-raisedcosine (RRC) filter used in all setups had a value of roll-off factor $\alpha = 0.35$. The results showed that at a data rate of 12 Gbps and 16 QAM modulation, an 8.0% root-mean-square error vector magnitude (rms EVM) was achieved, with an average output power of 14.5 dBm and 3.3% PAE. Additionally, the DUT was also measured
with 64 QAM/QPSK at a max data rate of 1.5/8 Gbps resulting in 3.8%/11.4% rms EVM.

3.7 Conclusion

This work first presents a Cline model of DAT to accurately predict input impedance and passive efficiency. Then, a 22.1 dBm output power PA with 11.5% PAE at 120 GHz is implemented by using a compact DAT as output matching and power combining network. This is the first work to demonstrate the DAT topology beyond 100 GHz to the author's best knowledge. This work doubles the small signal bandwidth compared to [85] with comparable output power. In addition, it presents a 14.5 dBm average output power at a 12 Gbps data rate in 16 QAM to show the potential of high-speed wireless communication in the F band. This chapter of the thesis specifically addresses the research question on how the DAT method could be extended to millimeter wave frequencies, and especially to technologies where the vertical separation between metal layers introduces complex asymmetries.

3.8 Personal Contributions

- Co-Led the design effort for the unit cell.
- Contributed to the stability analysis efforts.
- Contributed to small signal, large signal CW and modulation characterization efforts.
- Contributed to the manuscript writing efforts.

3.8.1 Acknowledgements

Linsheng Zhang, Jay Sheth, Robert M. Weikle, Steven M. Bowers, Travis Blalock, Jeffrey Hesler.



Figure 3.12: (a) Large signal measurement setup. (b) Measured and simulated output power, gain, and PAE versus available input power at 120 GHz. (c) Measured saturated output power and PAE versus frequency.



Figure 3.13: Modulation measurement setup and measured rms EVM vs symbol rate.



Figure 3.14: Measured rms EVM vs symbol rate in QPSK, 16 QAM, and 64 QAM modulation formats.

Chapter 4

Circuits for terahertz phase conjugation

The terahertz spectrum is generally accepted to be radiation with a frequency in the range of 300 GHz to 3 THz. Terahertz radiation has interesting properties they combine many of the advantages of microwave and visible light. The radiation has small wavelengths and extremely wide bandwidths. This can allow very high spatial resolution images even with less complex systems. THz radiation also displays specular and diffuse scattering - all extremely attractive in imaging around obstacles and maintaining narrow "pencil"beams [8, 96].

There is a rich plethora of research in co-designing transistor arrays with multifunctional EM elements to realise radiators [97–99], power-combined arrays [100], holographic metasurfaces [101] and many more applications. Phase conjugation at THz has its own challenges, primarily limited by the lower f_{max} of transistors, the design complexity involved in antenna integration and the ability to detect low power levels. In what follows, we propose a novel architecture that achieves phase conjugation at 300 GHz using 4 "pixels" in the 250nm InP HBT Teledyne node (with a f_t/f_{max} of 350 GHz/650 GHz).

4.1 Conceptual description of the process

In this section, we define and detail the features of phase conjugate waves (PCWs) [102].

Suppose we have an input plane-monochromatic wave given by

$$\mathbf{E}(z, x, y, \omega) = \mathbf{E}(z, x, y, \omega)e^{-i\omega t} = \mathbf{A}_0 e^{i[kz]}e^{-i\omega t}$$
(4.1)

In this equation, z is the longitudinal variable in the direction of propagation, x and y are the radial variables, ω is the angular frequency of the wave, k is the wave vector and A₀ is the real amplitude function. After this wave passes through a distorting medium, it becomes

$$\mathbf{E}'(z, x, y, \omega) = \mathbf{E}'(z, x, y, \omega)e^{-i\omega t} = \mathbf{A}_0 e^{i[kz+\phi(z, x, y)]}e^{-i\omega t}$$
(4.2)

If there is a plane mirror, the reflected wave will be of the form

$$\mathbf{E}''(z, x, y, \omega) = \bar{R} \cdot \mathbf{A}_0 e^{i[-kz + \phi(z, x, y)]} e^{-i\omega t}$$
(4.3)

After passing through the same medium, this becomes

$$\mathbf{E}^{'''}(z,x,y,\omega) = \bar{R} \cdot \mathbf{A}_0 e^{i[-kz+2\phi(z,x,y)]} e^{-i\omega t}$$
(4.4)

where \bar{R} is the amplitude reflectivity of the mirror.

However, if this mirror was replaced by a phase conjugating surface,

$$\mathbf{E}''(z, x, y, \omega) = \bar{R'} \cdot \mathbf{A}_0 e^{i[-kz - \phi(z, x, y)]} e^{-i\omega t}$$
(4.5)

where $\bar{R}^{,i}$ is the effective amplitude reflectivity of the phase conjugating surface.

After passing back through the distorting medium, this becomes

$$\mathbf{E}^{'''}(z, x, y, \omega) = \bar{R}^{'} \cdot \mathbf{A}_{0} e^{i[-kz-\phi(z, x, y)]} e^{-i\omega t} e^{i[\phi(z, x, y)]} = \bar{R}^{'} \cdot \mathbf{A}_{0} e^{i[-kz]} e^{-i\omega t}$$
(4.6)

Thus an ideal plane wave is obtained again, and the aberration influences from the medium are entirely obviated.

The popular architectures for implementing phase conjugation using RF/microwave circuits involves some form of mixing. Next, we detail the mathematics that underlie this operation.

Consider the typical fundamental mixing operation where a signal at frequency RF is mixed with a signal at frequency LO as below.

$$V_{IF} = V_{RF} cos(\omega_{RF}t + \phi) V_{LO} cos(\omega_{LO}t)$$

= $\frac{1}{2} V_{RF} V_{LO} [cos((\omega_{LO} - \omega_{RF})t - \phi) + cos((\omega_{LO} + \omega_{RF})t + \phi)]$ (4.7)

If the LO frequency is double the RF, the phase of the output IF at the RF frequency is now reversed with respect to the input.

4.2 Overview of the architecture

Traditional phase conjugating architectures use a LO at double the RF frequency [103], or at the RF or half the RF frequency in the case of subharmonic mixers [58, 104]. The subharmonic mixers rely on appropriate phasing of the signals to cancel certain output products while performing the mixing operation. However architectures that have been used at lower frequencies do not lend themselves easily to extension at the higher mmwave, and do not readily exist. This is therefore an interesting areas for exploration.

Extending the subharmonic mixer technique to the upper mmwave comes with additional challenges - the need to generate multiple phases on-chip or to use circularly polarized LO waves. In the latter case, the challenges involved in the imple-



Figure 4.1: Measured output power vs frequency for frequency multiplier based sources produced by VDI. [6]

mentation of antennas, measurements and isolation between various frequencies for the array can become prohibitive. In the former case, on-chip passive phase shifters are lossy especially at the frequencies involved and consume chip area. Generating the amount of power needed at the LO frequency can be challenging especially as frequencies move up. For comparison, Fig. 4.1 plots the output power (mW) vs frequency for millimeter wave sources produced by VDI. The available power decreases drastically as frequency goes up.

The architecture we propose 1) Uses a lower frequency LO off chip (150 GHz) and quadruples it on chip 2) Separates the input RF signal (301 GHz) (RF_{in}) and the phase conjugated beam (RF_{out}) by polarization 3) Uses a Frequency Selective Surface to separate the two input (LO and RF) signals in two opposing hemispheres with respect to the chip 4) Uses a double folded slot for the LO 5) Uses the annular slot as a multi-port structure/ "pixel" for both reception of the RF and transmission of the phase conjugated signal 6)The RF_{in} input on each antenna is single ended. This supports the RF_{in} coming in at any angle. The mixer is an adaptation of the Gilbert Cell micromixer - the desired RF_{out} is differential, while the leakage at the output at the RF_{in} frequency is common mode/in-phase. The input node is also at a virtual short for the output given the differential operation - making the isolation



Figure 4.2: Architecture of the proposed array depicting the positions of antennas and various circuit building blocks.

of the input to output more robust.

Antennas on substrates radiate preferentially through the substrate [105]. The ratio of the two powers is $\epsilon_r^{(3/2)}$. The proposed chip will be suspended on a lens for measurements [106]. The lens is included in all simulations to obtain accurate results. All matching components are implemented using microstrip transmission lines with the first layer as the metal ground. The antennas are also built on the same layer.

Fig. 4.2 details the architecture and the various circuit building blocks along with the flow of various signals. The folded slots and annular slots are outlined in purple and brown respectively. By virtue of the placement of the folded slots, a linearly polarized LO signal will produce signals out of phase at the inputs to the two 150 GHz power amplifiers. The 150 GHz signal is quadrupled in each of the upper and lower half-planes, and routed to two active baluns to generate differential signals at 600 GHz. These are then routed to a mmwave Gilbert cell micromixer [107]. The micromixer is well suited for this application, having a single ended input and differential outputs. The single ended input accommodates input plane waves at arbitrary angles, not only broadside to the chip. The differential outputs work with



Figure 4.3: Topology of the circuits and primary operating frequencies (a) 150 GHz PA (b) Quadrupler (c) 600 GHz Active Balun (d) Fundamental mixer (e) 300 GHz amplifier. Connections are emphasized with blue dots, and jump-overs with green arcs. Bias connections are not shown explicitly. Curved arrows indicate coupled lines. Emitter lengths are listed. All circuits use two collector contact transistors.

the positioning of the ports enabling only the mixed up/down signal to radiate - the input signal leaking out is common-mode and does not radiate efficiently. The "pixels" are spaced more than half-wavelength (with respect to the RF frequency) in this design to accommodate the electronic signal conditioning circuits, and to decrease mutual coupling issues.

Fig. 4.3 details the architecture of the various circuit building blocks used in the design. The PA is a stacked amplifier adapted to have two outputs as required by the system. The quadrupler is a cascode stage designed for increased isolation between input and output. The active balun provides improved common mode re-

jection ratio (CMRR) at 600 GHz and also provides improved phase and amplitude balance between the two outputs.The micromixer is modified for improved conversion gain, and phase balance between the common-emitter and common-base paths. The small signal amplifier at 300 GHz is a cascode design conjugately matched to the antenna output for optimum performance.

4.3 Description of the antenna building blocks

4.3.1 Frequency selective surface

One of the key issues in designing a phase conjugating array is the stimulation and measurement of such systems. In a typical lens based antenna system, most of the energy radiates through the substrate [105]. A thicker substrate also means loss of power to substrate modes [108]. This makes measurement of the monostatic and bistatic patterns difficult if all of the LO, RF_{out} and RF_{in} antennas have to be colocated. To surmount this issue, we implement a frequeny selective surface (FSS) on the chip. The FSS behaves as a band-pass filter, allowing signals at the RF_{in} and RF_{out} frequencies to transmit through while behaving as a reflector to the LO frequency. The FSS is adapted from previous work [109] in the far-infrared and uses crossed metal dipoles [110] as the unit element. This makes the FSS relatively insensitive to the polarization of the incident wave. Fig. 4.4 (a) depicts the geometry of the unit cell. The cell is designed embedded in InP to emulate the behavior of the circuit when suspended on a lens. Fig. 4.4 (b) depicts the insertion and return loss of the unit cell in a Floquet-mode simulation. The 300 GHz signal sees a low insertion loss whereas the 150 GHz LO is reflected. The Frequency Selective Surface (FSS) is patterned using the Backside Metal (BSM) option provided by the foundry.



Figure 4.4: (a) Geometry of the FSS unit cell (b) Floquet mode results of the insertion and return loss of the unit cell.

4.3.2 Double folded slot

The double folded slot [111] lends itself to integration with microwave circuits since the signal and ground planes are isolated at DC. The geometry also makes it easier to access differential signals from a linearly polarized incident wave. SIW cavity backed slots can make excellent unidirectional antennas [112]. This process does afford the possibility of through-substrate vias [113] but the dimensions of the vias was electrically large, and their RF performance was unknown. It was also not straight-forward to integrate this with the FSS, so it was decided to use the FSS as a stand-alone reflector. This makes the folded slot antenna's performance a function of the reflections from the sidewalls, the FSS and the lens-air interface. The differential double folded slot antenna suspended on a InP lens is shown in Fig. 4.5 (a). The variation in the gain in the broadside direction as a function of frequency is shown in Fig. 4.5 (c). The gain at a representative point in the frequency response around



Figure 4.5: (a) Elements of the double folded slot simulation including the lens (b) Gain of the system at 146 GHz (dB) (c) Variation of the gain in various directions as a function of frequency (broadside in bold red).

the LO frequency is shown in Fig. 4.5 (b). The response is primarily broadside (+z) as desired.

4.3.3 Annular Slot

The annular slot is a well-known antenna with properties that have been extensively studied [114]. In the past, work at UVa has focussed on using this structure in the design of HEB mixers [115]. We propose using the annular slot in an array in this design. The geometry of the array with the FSS backing is shown in Fig. 4.6 (a). The gain at 310 GHz is shown in Fig. 4.6 (b) depicting that the FSS is transparent to the RF frequencies as desired. In this particular simulation, all annular slots are each driven at one port and phased for the appropriate polarization.



Figure 4.6: (a) Elements of the annular slot array simulation including the lens (b) Gain of the system at 310 GHz (dB).

4.4 System Level Antenna Simulations

Next we detail the performance of the comprehensive antenna system backed by the metal FSS suspended on an InP lens. The separation between various elements are determined by coupling effects and the space required for routing and the placement of the associated circuitry. Fig. 4.7 (a) describes pictorially the geometry of the system, including the various individual antenna elements. Fig. 4.7 (b) shows the gain of the annular slot (RF) system at 303 GHz. The LO double folded slot antennas are terminated by an impedance that represents the input impedance of the circuit connected to the LO antenna when this pattern is simulated. Fig. 4.7 (d) shows the gain of the double folded slot system at 153 GHz. The annular slot antennas are terminated by an impedance that represents the input impedance of the circuit connected to the annular slot system at 153 GHz. The annular slot antennas are terminated by an impedance that represents the input impedance of the circuit connected to the annular slot system at 153 GHz. The annular slot antennas are terminated by an impedance that represents the input impedance of the circuit connected to the annular slot antenna when this pattern is simulated. Fig. 4.7 (d) shows the gain of the double folded slot system at 153 GHz. The annular slot antennas are terminated by an impedance that represents the input impedance of the circuit connected to the annular slot antenna when this pattern is simulated. Fig.



Figure 4.7: (a) Geometry of the final antenna system showing the two double folded slots, four annular slots, the FSS and lens. (b) The gain of the annular slot (RF) system at 303 GHz (dB). (c) The gain of the annular slot (RF) system across frequency (d) The gain of the double folded slot (LO) system at 153 GHz (dB). (d) The gain of the folded slot (LO) system across frequency.

4.7 (e) shows the gain of the LO system across frequency for this simulation. This image provides a complete picture of the full system across the two frequencies. As seen before, the LO system is more sensitive to the thickness and extents of the substrate, and the FSS and lens.

4.5 Circuit descriptions and simulation results

The performance of the system depends on careful co-design between the various antenna blocks and the circuit elements. The performance is also limited by the capabilities of the transistor itself - the published transistor f_{max} is 650 GHz. One of

the most significant challenges is in generating power at 600 GHz and higher without damaging the transistors - the higher input powers lead to higher peak currents in the transistor. The 150 GHz PA is very similar in design to the one implemented previously in chapters 2 and 3 of this thesis, and is hence not expounded here again.

The next subsections go over the design constraints and choices made for each block. The design choices are governed by the necessity to integrate these into the system developed above. The design uses coupled lines extensively to achieve a compact layout, and where possible to keep fields constrained between the coupled lines, given the complexity of the system, and the multitude of frequencies involved. Fig. 4.3 details the schematic of these various blocks. Where necessary, coupled lines are indicated explicitly with a symbol. All circuits are provided with bias using diode connected maximum emitter length transistors and resistor legs. The sizing is shown to not impact the noise of the transistor at relatively low frequencies [116] but the complex interaction at higher frequencies is not simulated and could be a further line of enquiry.

4.5.1 Quadrupler

The quadrupler schematic is shown in Fig. 4.3 (a). The design starts with a large signal simulation for optimization of the harmonics. A differential design is adopted so odd harmonics are idled by virtue of symmetry. Ref. [117] is used to design the quadrupler with some changes based on our design constraints. Coupled lines serve two purposes here - they serve to keep the differential signal tightly coupled and prevent leakage to neighboring circuits. They also help optimize the harmonic generation. The coupled line parameters are swept within certain bounds to obtain the optimum. Since is this is a strictly large signal design, small signal concepts do not apply readily and emphasis is on an empirical approach. The design is biased in deep class-AB since this is seen to maximize the harmonic generation at higher power levels, presumably from the loadline hitting the knee voltage. The leakage



Figure 4.8: (a) Simulated behavior of the quadrupler versus frequency and (b) Behavior of the quadrupler versus available LO power at 150 GHz.

of the second harmonic was minimized to the extent possible within the constraints of area, the quality factor of the components and compromise between leakage and conversion gain to the fourth harmonic. Fig. 4.8 details the (a) Simulated behavior of the quadrupler versus frequency and (b) Behavior of the quadrupler versus available LO power at 150 GHz. As can be seen, the design is optimized to have a peak at around 150 GHz and a sweet spot in terms of simulated generation of the fourth harmonic compared to the second at about 2 dBm Pavs. The quadrupler generates -10 dBm of simulated 4th harmonic power at 4 dBm Pavs at a current draw of 14 mA from a 4.9 V supply. Please note that the power numbers shown on the X axis in Fig. 4.8 reflect single ended output power at each differential input. The total available power would be 3 dB higher by extension. The design is also simulated with the port impedance being the conjugate of the input impedance looking in, as is common in system simulations.

4.5.2 Active Balun (AB)

It is extremely challenging to design a functional balun at these frequencies as required by the mixer - a passive balun would have been extremely lossy and considerably expensive in terms of area on the chip. The active balun on the other hand suffers from amplitude and phase imbalance because of the uneven gains in the two



Figure 4.9: (a) Simulated behavior of the AB with and without a coupled line output network in schematic (b) EM simulated outputs of the designed active balun.

signal paths from the input to the two outputs at 600 GHz. There has been some work on mmwave active baluns in HBT that improve the performance of the circuit using coupled inductors [54]. We propose using a coupled line in lieu of coupled inductors. Fig. 4.9 (a) compares the performance of an active balun with a coupled line matching network to one without. Both of these are simulated at the schematic level when terminated at each output with the conjugate of the impedance looking in. As is evident, the amplitude balance is greatly improved in the coupled line version versus the one which does not have coupling at the output. The common-mode rejection is improved by introducing a transmission line to resonate out the capacitance and increase the impedance looking into the current tail. The behavior of the circuit with these modifications is shown. The phase imbalance is within 20 degrees for the stand-alone circuit. The amplitude imbalance is within 5 dB. The simulated common mode rejection ratio is 2 dB and is defined as the ratio of the difference in the single ended voltage outputs divided by the average of the outputs. The mixer behavior is simulated with these numbers. Fig. 4.9 (b) details the behavior of each of the nodes after simulating at the electromagnetic level and accounting for most parasitic.



Figure 4.10: Plot of the conversion loss of the micromixer as a function of the available LO power at 600 GHz, in dB.

4.5.3 Micromixer

Fig. 4.10 plots the conversion loss of the micromixer as a function of the available LO power at 600 GHz. The micromixer layout was complicated by the need to integrate with the annular slot antenna. Given the limitations on the number of metal layer available to route signals, emphasis was placed on doing the best possible design with the best conversion loss. The isolation between the input and output frequencies is also crucial - but given that the leakage of the input signal is common-mode, the antenna does not support efficient re-radiation of the input signal. The output is connected to the orthogonal polarization ports on the same antenna.

4.5.4 300 GHz small signal amplifier

The small signal amplifier operating at 300 GHz is a typical cascode design. Care is taken to ensure that there are no propensity for low frequency oscillations. The design is driven by system constraints especially with respect to layout. The gain (S21) is plotted in Fig.



Figure 4.11: S21 (dB) of the 300 GHz amplifier vs frequency.



Figure 4.12: Die photo of the phase conjugating array chip.

4.6 Implementation and chip photograph

The chip was fabricated in the 250 nm InP HBT node from Teledyne Scientific. DC pads on the periphery are used to introduce bias as shown in Fig. 4.12. The annular slots are approximated by octagons owing to the design rule limitations in the kit. The overall chip occupies a compact area of 1.9 mm x 1.5 mm.



Figure 4.13: (a) Cartoon of the cross section of the packaging scheme used (b) Image of the wirebonded InP die.

4.7 Die packaging scheme

The die was epoxied to a high resistivity silicon substrate using non-conductive epoxy, and wirebonded to a Rogers 4 layer printed circuit board with a cavity cut out at the center. The PCB does affect the behavior of the patterns at various frequencies as expected and the design is simulated to reduce the impact of the various elements of the physical setup. The printed circuit board uses the second layer as the ground layer. All traces on the PCB carry DC bias - all RF input and output are quasi-optically coupled. The silicon substrate is patterned to carry DC bias from the chip to the PCB.

The cross section shown above is simplified and simulated in HFSS to ensure the patterns do not show significant deviation from what was intended. The cutout is patterned with metal, and the dimensions of the cavity are a crucial design choice. Bondwires are also added to the simulation to characterize their effect on the radiation. As expected, the results are no longer uniform as before, especially for the 150 GHz LO antenna. The gain of the 150 GHz antenna system (dB) is shown in Fig. 4.14 and Fig. 4.15. A variety of grating lobes are seen.



Figure 4.14: 3D radiation pattern (Gain in dB) of the simulated cross section at 150 GHz. The maxima in the broadside direction (+z) is evidently seen as are grating lobes from the introduction of the complex geometry.



Figure 4.15: 2D radiation pattern (Gain in dB) of the simulated cross section at 150 GHz at various slices of Phi.



Figure 4.16: 3D radiation pattern (Gain in dB) of the simulated cross section at 300 GHz. The maxima in the broadside direction (-z) is evidently seen as are grating lobes from the introduction of the complex geometry.



Figure 4.17: 2D radiation pattern (gain in dB) of the simulated cross section at 300 GHz at various slices of Phi.



Figure 4.18: Measurement setup used to characterize the InP PC array.

4.8 Measurement apparatus and results

The chip as packaged is mounted on a plastic PCB holder that enables ready access to the actual DUT area while positioning all bias wires leading from the source meter away from the central area that dominates the radiation patterns. The architecture of the measurement setup is shown in Fig. 4.18, and a photograph is in Fig. 4.19. A multiplier built at UVA is used to excite the LO horn antenna. The design and characterization of the multiplier (quadrupler) are detailed in [118]. This quadrupler is followed by a VDI WR5 amplifier that then drives the WR5 horn antenna which is polarization matched to that of the LO antenna on the chip. in the WR3 band, a VNAx each is used to upconvert and downconvert the desired signals when driven by the Keysight Signal Generator. Again, each of these VNAx are followed by horn antennas with polarization matching that on the DUT. The Meas. port on the receiving WR3 VNAx is connected to a Keysight Spectrum Analyzer. The spectrum analyzer is used to look for the mixed down signal emanating from the DUT. Sourcemeters are used to supply DC bias to the chip.



Figure 4.19: (a) Photograph of the measurement setup showing all antennas and measurement/excitation sources (b) Image of the die epoxied to the high resistivity silicon substrate and wirebonded to PCB bias lines.

4.8.1 SNR calculations

The VNAx used as the transmitter is characterized to have an output power of -5 dBm at its waveguide flange. Using Friis' path loss equation at 300 GHz at an estimated distance of 1 inch between the transmitting horn and on-chip receiving antenna, and with the gain of the on-chip receiving antenna set to 10 dB from simulations (Fig. 4.16), a received power of -20 dBm is estimated at the chip.

The conversion loss of the chain consisting of the mixer followed by the small signal amp is estimated to be 50 dB (Fig. 4.10 and Fig. 4.11). Therefore, the power transmitted from the chip is approximately -75 dBm.

Again, using Friis' path loss equation with the same parameters as before, the power received at the WR3 flange of the receiving VNAx is estimated to be -95 dBm. The VNAx mixer sensitivity is -135 dBm/Hz based on discussions with VDI. With a RBW of 1 Hz on the spectrum analyzer, we have an estimated SNR of **40 dB** for the measurement setup pictured in Fig. 4.18.

4.8.2 Observations

A variety of quasi-optical focusing techniques are used to illuminate the 150 GHz LO antenna on chip. The bias line on the PA and quadrupler are monitored to ob-

serve a response. The quesicent currents on both biases, and especially the quadrupler increases as the LO antenna on-chip is progressively illuminated with power proving that the concept of separating the two antennas using a FSS is feasible and demonstrable. The leakage of the Tx horn to the Rx horn antenna is also observed, as is the 8th harmonic of the quadrupler used to excite the LO (that falls in the WR3) band. However, the on-chip mixer response is not observed over a range of experiments that varied biases, frequencies and power levels. It is hence decided to characterize the quadrupler test structure that was also taped out as part of this project to be able to correlate the simulated behavior at 600 GHz versus what is actually measured.

4.9 Conclusions

The design analysis and characterization results (including the test structure in the next chapter) provide a framework to develop these ideas further and to implement them in a process and technology than can support the frequencies involved, perhaps where the maximum frequency of operation does not exceed $f_{max}/2$. The design also provides a foundation for a new class of ICs that are able to simultaneously efficiently radiate both from the top and the bottom of the chip, and this can be a useful tool in implementing use cases where the chip might need to be free standing and be able to interact with fields impinging from both hemispheres. The design analysis using coupled lines can also be extended further to demonstrate some critical circuit ideas.

Specifically, by extending on previous work that uses coupled transformers and demonstrating an improvement in the signal balance when using a coupled line at the output in simulation, this chapter provides an interesting design space exploration for future work. By intelligently using phases of the Tx and Rx antennas and by creating virtual shorts, a degree of isolation between the input and output ports is enforced in systems that need to be used in STAR (simultaneous transmit and receive) form. By integrating the transistor electronics and various drive signals with the passive antennas on chip, this chapter further answers the question on integrating HBT electronics to build a phase conjugating system.

4.10 Personal Contributions

- Designed and laid out every circuit block.
- Designed and simulated all the antennas and accompanying physical structures.
- Designed the PCB and mounting structures.
- Designed the measurement setup and conducted experiments.
- Co-designed the silicon substrate interposer with Chris Moore.
- Assisted in the fabrication of said interposer in the UVA cleanroom.
- Leading effort to document observations and manuscript writing.

4.10.1 Acknowledgements

Chris Moore, Jay Sheth, Michael Cyberey, Matthew Bauwens, Robert M. Weikle, Steven M. Bowers, Travis Blalock, Jeffrey Hesler, Scott Barker.

Chapter 5

Design and characterization of a 250nm InP HBT frequency quadrupler using custom DC interposers

In order to understand the behavior of the individual circuits on the array described in the previous chapter, on-wafer test structures were characterized. The project had two on-chip test structures but only one could be characterized effectively owing to an error in the layout that prevented the mixer from being completely biased up. This chapter also addresses a crucial issue that was encountered when these chips were attempted to be wirebonded to. The soft BCB dielectric and adhesion issues prevented a series of succesful wirebonds from being made which made characterization extremely difficult. To overcome this issue, it was decided to use a custom in-house beamlead frame that would act as a reliable means of supplying DC bias. One crucial difference between the wirebond and the DC interposer approach was in the reliability of contact with the InP die. Additionally, the beamleads are tacked down and are not pulled back by the bonder head like a traditional Design and characterization of a 250nm InP HBT frequency quadrupler using 86 custom DC interposers



Figure 5.1: Pictorial depiction of the fabrication process outlined in Section 5.1.

wirebond would. This meant that the pads no longer peeled off. The remainder of this chapter is arranged as three primary sections - one expanding on the fabrication details of this interposer, one on the design of the quadrupler test structure, and one on characterization results.

5.1 Beamlead frame/Interposer design and fabrication

5.1.1 Wafer preparation and front side processing

The beamlead frame was designed in Keysight ADS to accomodate the pad pitch on the on-wafer test structures. This was then translated to a format that the machines used in the cleanroom could understand. The process begins with a pre-cut 50.8mm diameter 635um thick wafer comprising three layers as shown in Fig. 5.1 (a).

- 1. A top device layer, >10k Ohm cm (high resistivity) 50 μm thick Silicon
- A 2 μm thick Silicon Oxide ("Box") layer which separates the device layer from the
- 3. Bulk Silicon Handle (low resistivity).

The silicon is grown using the float zone method, and is optimal for producing lowdefect silicon [Si] (low oxygen and carbon impurities). All solvent cleaning is done by placing the wafer on a spinner. The next step is to use a buffered oxide etch (BOE - 10% Hydrofluoric Acid and 90% Water H_2O) to remove any oxide from the surface of the wafer. The wafer is placed into a Teflon dish, and BOE is poured onto only the wafer, while ensuring that it is not entirely submerged - to be able to observe when the surface becomes hydrophobic.

The next step in the wafer processing is applying a monolayer of Hexamethyldisilane (HMDS) to promote photoresist adhesion as shown in Fig. 5.1 (b). The wafer is loaded into a vacuum oven preheated to 150°C on Aluminum surface, and a dry-scroll vacuum pump is used to pump to <10 millitorrs [mT]. The chamber is then purged by flowing N2 until the pressure is 300 mT. This pump-purge process is repeated three times. After the third iteration of the pump purge, the chamber is pumped until the pressure is <5 mT. HMDS is then bubbled into the chamber using an Erlenmeyer flask configured as a bubbler, and a needle gauge is used to increase the flow out of the bubbler until the partial pressure measurement is between 10-12 mT. The HMDS flows for approximately 10 minutes, and then the chamber is pumped and purged with N₂. The photoresist is then applied to the wafer by using a Spin Coater. AZ4330-RS is spun at 3000 RPM (revolutions per minute) to apply a 4 µm film of photoresist as shown in Fig. 5.1 (c). Edgebead is removed using a swab and reagent alcohol. The Resist is soft-baked at 110° C for 1 minute.

Design and characterization of a 250nm InP HBT frequency quadrupler using 88 custom DC interposers

The ML3 Microwriter (projection lithography) is used to pattern the photoresist using a photomask taking into account fabrication tolerances using Autodesk's AutoCAD software. Features representing beam leads were added to perform tab bonding between a mounted chip and a printed circuit board. For this work, an aspect ratio of 5 to 1 was chosen for the beam lead; that is, the beam lead could hang off the side of the silicon five times longer than the width of the beam lead. Additional blocks were made, resembling the various microchips being tested for the assembly procedure and other parts.

The via layer is loaded onto the micro-writer software, and a 1 μ m beam, using normal settings with a 10 mm focusing mesh, is used to pattern the photoresist. After patterning the photoresist AZ400K:H₂O 1:4 is used to develop the exposed Resist. A hardbake was performed in preparation for etching at 110° C for 60 seconds and 130° C for 3 minutes. After hardbake, the wafer is loaded into a vacuum chamber and an O₂ plasma to clear any residual resist in the developed features.This is done to ensure that no remaining resist could mask etching. A mechanical profiler is used to measure the step of the Resist, which corresponded to around 3.9 µm

An Oxford plasma Inductively Coupled Plasma–Reactive Ion etcher (ICPRIE) machine was used to etch through the silicon to define alignment markers for the top side and backside processing. The wafer is loaded into the vacuum chamber and pumped to approximately 1E-6 torr. The next etch is the Bosch process, which balances deposition (or passivation) and etching to create an anisotropic etch optimal for vias. The Bosch process deposits by flowing Octafluorocyclobutane (C_4F_8), which leaves a fluorocarbon film on the surface and the walls where the etching is taking place. The Sulfur hexafluoride (SF_6) etches faster on the top and bottom surfaces "anisotropic-like" therefore, it clears the fluorocarbons on the top and bottom faster than it does the sidewalls, therefore allowing us to define holes through the wafer. After This was completed, the wafer was loaded into an O₂ plasma etcher for

30 minutes before stripping the Resist with Acetone and Isopropanol as shown in Fig. 5.1 (d).

5.1.2 Beamlead processing

The next step of the process is to define the topside metalization layer for the transmission lines and the beam leads. Resist from the previous processing steps was removed by using an O₂ Plasma. After the wafer is cleaned, the wafer is loaded into the electron beam physical vapor deposition EBPVD (evaporator) to deposit a seed layer of metal. The metal seed layer was masked with photoresist and electroplated to define the microchip's transmission lines and beam leads. Electroplating is performed using a Technigold solution. A magnetic stir bar was used at approximately 200 RPM, along with slight ultrasonic agitation. The plating voltage and current were 0.6 Volts and 0.68 mA, respectively. The plating bath was heated to 50° C. HMDS and Resist are applied to the surface to define plating features. The total thickness was checked every 30 minutes until we reached a thickness greater than 2.5 µm as shown in Fig. 5.1 (e). The next step is to remove the seed layer from the wafer. This is done by using HG800 gold etchant and BOE. The wafer is held with tweezers, wafted for 10-second increments, and then soaked in multiple DI water beakers until the gold layer is visually gone as shown in Fig. 5.1 (f). The wafer is then placed into a Teflon dish, and BOE is poured onto only the wafer.

A separate bulk silicon piece is prepared. Epotek 330 Epoxy is applied to the top of the surface and the two wafers are brought in contact with each other with a wafer press and cured at 100°C for >4 hours as shown in Fig. 5.1 (g). After bonding these two wafers together, the Bulk Silicon handle is removed through mechanical and plasma etching. The mechanical etching procedure involves using a Disco Dicing saw and making approximately 400 cuts- a kerf width from each other through 90% of the thickness of the wafer. The next step is to use a buffered oxide etch (BOE -10% Hydrofluoric Acid and 90% Water H₂O) to remove the Silicon oxide from the Design and characterization of a 250nm InP HBT frequency quadrupler using 90 custom DC interposers



Figure 5.2: Beamlead frame fabricated in the UVA cleanroom using steps outlined in Section 5.1. This image shows beamleads on both the PCB and the InP die sides.

surface of the wafer as shown in Fig. 5.1 (h). The wafer is placed into a Teflon dish, and BOE is poured onto only the wafer, ensuring that it is not entirely submerged. Since this surface is thick, this takes around 30 minutes. After plasma cleaning the wafer is submerged into wafer bond remover. Heated to 100° C, the wafer is left in this solution for approximately 4 hours and Isopropyl and Trichloroethylene is sprayed on the surface of the wafer to release the chips onto filter-paper.

5.2 Quadrupler Test Structure Design

The test structure is designed to replicate the positioning of various nodes in the actual array as shown in Fig. 4.3. A dummy 50 Ω on chip termination is connected to a dummy pad on one side. On the other side, a CPW pad is used to probe the



Figure 5.3: (a) Schematic of the quadrupler test structure showing the positions of the CPW pads and dummy resistor. Biasing details are not shown explicitly. (b) Simulated performance of the quadrupler test structure vs available LO power.

output. The design details are exactly as described in 4.5.1. Wide emitter length transistors are used to bias each side from the Vcc bias pad. The schematic is shown in Fig. 5.3 (a). Small and large signal simulations are shown in conjunction with measurements in section 5.3. Fig. 5.3 (b) plots the simulated current draw and 4th harmonic output power as a function of available power at 150 GHz. Fig. 5.4 depicts an image of the die layout. The pads and other structures mentioned above are clearly visible. A dummy load replicates the division of power into two legs as it would be in the actual array. The dummy load consists of a 50 Ω resistor on-chip termination preceded by a 25 µm pitch CPW pad. On the output side, an identical pad is used to probe the output. At the design stage, idlers are used to desensitize the output node at the second harmonic at both sides and this combined with the on chip dummy pad was thought to suffice to enable the maintenance of symmetry at all frequencies. However it was later realized that the probe presents a different impedance out of band and this does create additional asymmetry. However, the probe is simulated out of band and these results are shown in 5.3.



Figure 5.4: Layout of the fabricated quadrupler test structure. The DC and RF CPW pads are indicated.



Figure 5.5: Die picture of the fabricated quadrupler test structure in conjunction with the DC interposer. The DC interposer beamleads and traces are colored bright yello. The cavity accomodating the die is seen as a black outline.
5.3 Packaging and measurements

The die is first epoxied to a PCB. The beamlead frame from Fig. 5.2 is next epoxied to the PCB with the cavity fitting the die. After the epoxy has cured, a wirebonder head (without the wire) is used to gently tack down the beamleads on both the PCB and die side. This is then tested for DC bias to ensure a functional chip and package. Please note that all probe pitches are 25 µm on this test structure.

5.3.1 S-parameter measurements

An input S parameter measurement is performed in the WR5 band. A DMPI WR5.1 probe is landed on the input CPW pad. A WR1.5 probe with a section of WR1.5 through and a WR1.2 to 10 transition is attached to a PM5 Erickson Calorimeter and landed on the output side to act as a load. The input chain leading to the WR5.1 probe tip is calibrated using a custom DMPI calibration substrate. It is noteworthy that the pads on-wafer are not calibrated and are part of the network measured. The chip is biased at 4.9 V for a quiescent of 6.1 mA. Fig. 5.6 plots the simulated and measured S parameters at the input of the quadrupler test structure with the output terminated. The results agree exceedingly well indicating that both the transistor and passive structure have been well modeled at these frequencies, atleast on the input side.

Next, a S parameters measurement is performed at the output, with the input terminated. On the input, a WR5 VNAx connected to a WR5 probe is landed to ensure a good 50 Ohm termination in band. At the output, the WR1.5 VNA extender with the test port attached is first calibrated upto the flange. Next, the probe is attached and an on-wafer 1 port calibration is performed utilising a DMPI calibration substrate that incorporates five delay short elements. The chip is biased at 4.9 V for a quiescent of 6.1 mA. The setup now calibrated to the probe tips is used to test the S parameters at the output of the HBT quadrupler from 500 to 675 GHz. A section





Figure 5.6: One port S parameter results for the quadrupler, with the output terminated.



Figure 5.7: (a) Simulated one port S parameter at the input for the quadrupler, with the output terminated. (b) Current draw from supply when excited significantly by a WR3 input power source.

of the measurements in the band of interest is plotted in Fig. 5.8. The simulated and measured results do not match well and this is thought to be from the poor modeling of the transistors at these frequencies along with a combination of metal and dielectric losses and any excited substrate modes.

The setup calibrated at the test flange, is also used to measure the mismatch loss of the WR1.2 to WR10 taper connected to the PM5, that is used in the large signal measurement elaborated on next.



Figure 5.8: One port S parameter results for the quadrupler, with the input terminated from 580 to 620 GHz



Figure 5.9: Large signal measurement setup. The Spacek amp drives an isolator followed by the diode quadrupler.



Figure 5.10: Saturated output power at peak current draw - Simulations vs measurements. The lower end is limited by the performance of the driving source. The black and blue traces in (b) are relevant for comparison.

5.3.2 Large signal measurements

The test structure is then tested for large signal performance. At the input, a Spacek amplifier drives the quadrupler detailed in [118] with an isolator in between. The output of the quadrupler (with the dump port terminated in a load) is connected to a WR5.1 probe (with a twist). The setup is pictorially depicted in Fig. /ref (a). The eighth harmonic of the quadrupler in the vicinity of the WR3 band is expected to be lower than 15 dBc and hence most of the power going into the HBT quadrupler is expected to be in the WR5 band. It is difficult to measure the eighth harmonic from the diode quadrupler directly by attaching the output flange to a mixer since this alters the behavior of the quadrupler significantly. The simulation of the test structure gives us a degree of confidence about the signal going into the probe on the input pad. Fig. 5.7 (a) and (b) plot the simulated S parameters at the input (with output terminated) and the current draw when excited by a WR3 input. As can be seen, with a return loss of 5 dB, 32% of the power is expected to be reflected. The current draw is also not as significant and this is because of a highly tuned design at 150 GHz.

At the output, a WR1.5 probe is connected to a Wr1.2 to WR10 taper. The WR10 taper is connected to a VDI PM5 power meter. The WR1.2 probe cuts on at a higher frequency compared to the WR1.5 waveguide (492 GHz vs 393 GHz), and this is done to ensure that the power read at the PM5 is at the 4th harmonic (> 493 GHz). The HBT quadrupler is excited by the input chain and readings are taken on the power meter at a range of frequencies when the current draw on the HBT quadrupler exceeds 14 mA. This is expected to be the safe range from simulations using the model kit provided by the foundry. Between each frequency point, the PM5 is zeroed to ensure maximal accuracy in the readings. The lower end of the frequency range in measurements is constrained by the lower cutoff in the exciting diode quadrupler [118]. Next, the measured S parameters of the probe are used to

account for the insertion loss of the probe in band. This is nominally 3.5 dB in the band of operation. The mismatch loss taken from the measurement of the S parameters of the WR1.2 to WR10 taper is added to the loss of the PM5 upto the flange, and the insertion loss of the taper. This is then added to the loss of the probe and the raw measured output power. This cumulative number is the actual measured output power in the WR1.2 band.

As is expected, the behavior of the WR1.5 probe out of band does violate the symmetry assumptions inherent in the design and the usage of a dummy load on chip. In order to account for this, the simulated S parameters of the WR1.5 probe in all the frequencies of interest (150 GHz and all harmonics) is used in the simulation to account for the effects of the termination out of band. As expected, there is a delta in the power delivered between the dummy on chip-load and the other leg that drives the actual measured output on chip. Fig. 5.10 plots the simulated and measured results across frequencies and power levels. Fig. 5.10 (a) plots the simulated output power sis about 1.6 dB at 150 GHz input, with the output power supplied to the on-chip load being higher. Fig. 5.10 (b) plots the simulated output power across frequencies. Again, the output power supplied to the on-chip load is higher across the band.

Fig. 5.10 (b) also plots the calibrated measured output power referenced in the paragraph above. As can be seen there is a large delta in the simulated and measured power. This is attributed to a combination of dielectric and metal losses, and significant difference between modeling and behavior of the transistors at these frequencies, although it is harder to conclude which of these factors contribute significantly or in what proportion. All simulations include realistic estimates for dielectric loss tangent and metallic conductivity, at the lower frequencies and to the best of the author's knowledge, a reasonable loss model for the higher frequencies. [119] details an oscillator built using this same technology at comparable frequencies. The

Design and characterization of a 250nm InP HBT frequency quadrupler using 98 custom DC interposers

authors report a 8 dB delta between simulated and measured output powers. Their design uses no series capacitors and does not have an on chip load resistor and is hence significantly different from our design. Moreover, it is unclear if the authors used their own models or the foundry provided models for the transistors.

5.4 Conclusions

The results from this chapter provide a significant insight into the behavior of the array in simulations versus measurements. If the actual output of the quadrupler is lower by 15 dB, the conversion loss of the mixer is almost lower than simulated by that amount if not more. The SNR of the setup that was measured to be roughly 40 dB in 4.8.1 suddenly falls down to 5 dB or even lesser. This would help explain the fact that no signal is seen at the WR3 receiving antenna in the measurement to observe the mixed signal. This chapter answers the research question that pertains to interfacing with electronics that suffer from low pad adhesion by implementing an interposer that while being used here only at DC, is capable of being used at RF frequencies as well.

5.5 Personal Contributions

- Design and layout of the HBT quadrupler test structure.
- Designed the beamlead interposer in ADS.
- Assisted in the fabrication of said interposer.
- Designed the measurement setup.
- Leading effort to document observations and manuscript writing.

5.5.1 Acknowledgements

Chris Moore, Matthew Bauwens, Michael Cyberey, Robert M. Weikle, Steven M. Bowers, Travis Blalock, Jeffrey Hesler, Scott Barker.

Chapter 6

Design and characterization of a phase conjugator using subharmonic diode mixers

As detailed in the background, traditional phase conjugating architectures typically use a LO at twice the radio frequency (RF). Architectures based on this approach, however, are problematic at millimeter and sub-millimeterwave bands where highpower local oscillators are costly and scarce. In this chapter, a new phase conjugator architecture based on 4th-order subharmonically pumped mixers that use an LO with frequency at approximately half the RF is described. Analysis and design of the phase conjugator are discussed and a prototype version operating at 1.7 GHz is demonstrated. This chapter also details a technique to quantitatively measure the degree of phase conjugate signal versus all the other signal sources at the RF frequency that leak out at the IF port. Qualitatively, this provides the benefit of not having to rely on an arbitrarily small separation in frequencies to prove the existence of a phase conjugate signal. In a larger terahertz systems consisting of various ICs and packages, it may become prohibitively computationally expensive to simulate the pattern at a number of frequencies. Using a conventional RF technique



Figure 6.1: Circuit architecture of the phase conjugator based on 4th order subharmonically pumped mixers. The transmission lines 1 and 2 are 90 degree at the RF frequency

(S parameters) to quantify this behavior thus has interesting implications. This circuit also lends itself to this interferometry based characterization by virtue of its intrinsically separate input and output ports.

6.1 Circuit Analysis and Design

Fig. 6.1 shows the basic circuit topology of the phase conjugator. Two anti-parallel diode pairs (labeled APDP-A and APDPB) are employed for subharmonic mixing. The LO signal ($\omega_P \approx \omega_{RF}/2$) is divided and applied to drive the APDP's with equal amplitudes and 45° phase offset corresponding to the electrical length of transmission line 1 at the LO frequency). The RF signal is fed to the APDP's using a 3-dB quadrature hybrid with a 90° delay line (transmission line 2) connecting the hybrid's quadrature port to APDP-2. This effectively provides two equal-amplitude RF signals to the APDP's with a 180° phase-offset.

It is well-established that the sideband currents present at the terminals of the anti-parallel diode pairs can be expressed in terms of the small-signal sideband voltages, Vn, and a conversion admittance matrix [120, 121]. The elements of the conversion admittance matrix, $Y_{m,n}$, are functions of the Fourier components of the conductance (G_k) and capacitance (C_k) waveforms of the pumped diodes,

$$Y_{m,n} = G_{m-n} + j(\omega_0 + m\omega_p)C_{m-n}$$
(6.1)

where ω_0 and ω_p are the IF and LO frequencies respectively. The LO phase offset applied to APDP-A through delay line 1 results in a linear (with frequency) phase shift of each Fourier component of the diode pair's conductance and capacitance waveforms [56]. Thus, the sideband currents flowing through APDP-A and APDP-B can be expressed as,

$$I_{\rm m}^{\rm A} = \sum_{n = -\infty}^{\infty} Y_{{\rm m,n}} exp \frac{(-j(m-n)\pi)}{4} V_{\rm n}$$
(6.2)

and

$$I_{\rm m}^{\rm B} = \sum_{n=-\infty}^{\infty} Y_{\rm m,n} V_{\rm n} \tag{6.3}$$

In expressions 6.2 and 6.3, superscripts A and B refer to the APDP's, m is the current sideband index, n is the voltage sideband index, and $Y_{m,n}$ is the mnth element of the conversion admittance matrix. Consistent with the literature, the radial frequency corresponding to sideband n is defined as $\omega_0 + n\omega_p$. Thus, a sideband index of m = 0 corresponds to the IF current. The negative sign in equation 6.3 arises from the 180- phase difference between the RF signals at the output of the hybrid. Examination of equations 6.2 and 6.3 readily shows that the IF currents at the terminals of the anti-parallel diode pairs that are associated with the input RF signal (at sideband n = -4, corresponding to $\omega_{\rm RF} \approx 2\omega_{\rm p}$) are in phase. As a result, the IF signals (which are at approximately the same frequency as the RF input signal) cancel at the RF input (port 1) of the quadrature hybrid and sum at the IF output (port 4). Conversely, the RF currents (with sideband indices of m = -4) are 180° out of phase, resulting in cancellation at the IF output (port 4). In addition, because the RF input is applied and the IF output is taken at mutually-isolated ports of the hybrid, coupling between the input RF and its phase-conjugate replica at the IF output is minimized. Isolation between these signals is examined further through measure-



Figure 6.2: Microstrip layout of the 4th order subharmonic phase conjugator.

| Parameter | Value |
|--------------------------------|--------|
| Total Capacitance at 0V, 1 MHz | 45 fF |
| Series Resistance | 4 Ohms |
| SSB NF | 6.5 dB |

Table 6.1: Parameters of the Anti-Parallel Diode pair from Macom

ments on a prototype phase-conjugator based on the architecture of fig. 6.1.

6.2 Implementation

A prototype phase conjugator based on the architecture of fig. 6.1 has been implemented as a microstrip circuit fabricated on a FR4 4 layer substrate (with dielectric constant of 3.61, substrate thickness of approximately 55 mils and top conductor thickness of approximately 1.7 mils). The transmission lines and circuit components are designed with the ground being on the second metal layer for optimal RF performance. The circuit is designed to operate at an RF of 3.47 GHz, an LO frequency of 1.76 GHz and an IF of 3.53 GHz. The circuit layout is shown in Fig. 6.2 and consists of a branchline coupler as the 3-dB quadrature hybrid and a meandered Wilkinson coupler as the LO power divider. Two pairs of beamlead GaAs Schottky anti parallel diode pairs (Model MA4E1318 from Macom) are soldered onto the circuit. Electrical parameters (obtained from the datasheet) for these devices are provided in Table I6.1.

In addition to the two delay lines required for proper phasing of the RF and

LO signals, several microstrip lines and stubs are included as idlers and impedance matching networks. Referring to fig. 2, microstrip stubs 1 and 1' (with electrical lengths of 90°at the LO frequency) are open-circuited and serve as ground to the LO signal. Similarly, stubs 2 and 2' (with electrical lengths of 180°at the RF) are short-circuited through via holes and act as RF/IF grounds.

Stubs 3 and 3' (with electrical lengths of 90° at the RF) are also shortcircuited and these are used as idlers for mixing products at the frequencies $\omega_{\rm RF} + 2\omega_{\rm p} = 6.99$ GHz, $-(\omega_{\rm RF} - 2\omega_{\rm p}) = 50$ MHz, and $\omega_{\rm RF} + 6\omega_{\rm p} = 14.03$ GHz. Because the RF and IF are approximately the same frequency, the RF input and IF output are matched using the same impedance transformer design (microstrip lines 4 and 4'), with line width of 50 mil and length of 450 mil. The microstrip transformers labeled 5 and 5' are chosen to optimize the LO impedance for conversion loss and are designed using the harmonic balance simulator of Agilent's Advanced Design System software. The width and length of these LO transformers are 50 mil and 170 mil, respectively. A meandered Wilkinson power divider is used to feed equal amplitude and equalphase LO's to the diode pairs. Final design of the meandered power divider made use of Agilent's electromagnetic solver Momentum to account for physical discontinuities such as the hairpin turns used in the structure. Fig. 6.3 plots the simulated S parameters of the tapered Wilkinson divider with 1 being the input port and 2 and 3 being the 3-dB split ports. As expected, the divider performs exceedingly well in the vicinity of the LO frequency.

6.3 Measurements

The RF/IF matching and isolation of the phase conjugator were measured using an Keysight PNA vector network analyzer. During this measurement, a 1.693 GHz source with available power of 10.1 dBm was applied to the LO port of the circuit. The measured S-parameters are shown in Fig. 6.5 where S11, S22, and S21 repre-



Figure 6.3: Simulated S parameters of the Wilkinson Divider with 1 being the input port and 2 and 3 being the 3-dB split ports. The EM simulation was performed in the Keysight ADS Momentum simulator.

sent the RF input matching, IF output matching and RF-to-IF isolation, respectively. The input and return loss do not match simulations well, and this is thought to be from a combination from a highly dispersive lossy FR4 substrate and poor modeling of the diode parameters. Measurements of RF-to-IF conversion loss and 2 LO-to IF isolation were done using swept-frequency sources applied to the LO and RF ports with a spectrum analyzer at the IF port. The LO, RF, and IF are fixed at 1.693, 3.416 and 3.386 GHz, respectively, with available LO power of 10.1 dBm. The 2 LO-to-IF isolation (ratio of the available LO power to the LO second-harmonic power at the IF port) was measured because the 2nd harmonic of the LO is at approximately the same frequency as the IF signal, thus presenting a potential interference at the output. The measured RF-to-IF conversion loss is 21.4 dB and the 2 LO-to-IF isolation is better than 50 dB. The leakage from the RF to IF port when pumped at the LO port, is 26 dB. The phase conjugate signal is thus stronger than the leakage. Table 6.2 summarizes the simulated and measured performance of the prototype phase conjugator at the given design frequencies. A design on a high frequency Rogers Substrate with a better characterization of the diode parasitic is expected to yield a better conversion loss, and have improved matching.



Figure 6.4: Photograph of the phase conjugate mixer. The APDs are labeled. The LO port is at the right, and the RF and IF ports are on the top and bottom of the image

| Parameter | Simulation | Measurement |
|---------------------------|------------|-------------|
| Conversion Loss(dB) | 26 | 21.4 |
| RF to IF isolation (dB) | 29 | 26.5 |
| 2 LO to IF isolation (dB) | Inf | 60 |
| Avail. LO power (dBm) | 13.5 | 10.1 |

Table 6.2: Comparison of the measured and simulated performance of the phase conjugator.

It is worth examining the possibility of quantifying the quality of the phase conjugate signal using conventional RF characterization methodology as opposed to using a retrodirective method that differentiates with respect to frequency. A S parameter measurement is most suited to this purpose given the measurement of phase and amplitude at each sweep point. It is critical to understand the concept of phase here - this is the relative phase between the RF and LO paths going into the mixer. Consider the scheme in Fig. 6.6. All measurements are performed at CW unlike a conventional frequency sweep. The signal from Port 1 is divided using a



Figure 6.5: Measured S parameters of the Phase Conjugator. RF input is at port 1, and IF output is at port 2.

3 dB power splitter and one of the ports is connected to a circulator followed by a Pasternack Divider, a bandpass filter and an amplifier in that sequence. This signal supplies the LO to the DUT mixer examined above. The bandpass filter is needed to condition the signal such that the second harmonic of the LO (at the RF frequency) is not significantly strong. This is needed since the DUT mixer performs poorly if the LO signal has significant second harmonic content (close to the RF frequency). This is also borne out by the fact that the mixer is inherently subharmonic in design. Next, the signal from the other port of the 3 dB splitter is supplied to an attenuator followed by a phase shifter. The phase shifter is a delay line that operates over the band of the RF signal. This signal is connected to the RF port of the DUT mixer. The IF port is connected to Port 2 of the VNA.

The reference planes for the two port S parameter calibration are shown in the scheme as well. The phase shifter enables introducing a phase shift in the RF path relative to the LO path. It is noteworthy that there is purely one frequency that is being stimulated and interrogated here and all the various terms fold on this single frequency. Consider the various complex wave amplitudes as detailed in Fig. 6.6.

$$b_2 = a_1 e^{(j\phi)} \tag{6.4}$$



Figure 6.6: Metrology scheme for demonstrating phase conjugation using the DUT mixer and a COTS frequency divider.

$$b_3 = \alpha b_2 + \beta \bar{b}_2 + \gamma = \epsilon a_1 e^{(j\phi)} + \delta \bar{a}_1 e^{(-j\phi)} + \gamma$$
(6.5)

where ϵ , δ and γ are complex constants that represent the leakage of the RF, the phase conjugate signal and the leakage of the LO signal - all at the IF port.

$$S_{21} = b_3/a_1 = \epsilon e^{(j\phi)} + \nu e^{(-j\phi)} + \mu$$
(6.6)

where v and μ are complex constants that indicate the quantities of the phase conjugate signal and LO leakage normalized to the input wave. This contour sketches out an ellipse in the ϕ plane. The eccentricty and the focii are dictated by the various terms in equation 6.6. The behavior of equation 6.6 is plotted for various values of the phase conjugate signal and LO leakage in Fig. 6.7. As expected, the LO leakage drives the offset from the origin of the contour, and the strength of the phase conjugate signal versus the RF leakage drives what direction the contour is traced out in. For equal parts RF leakage and phase conjugate signal, the contour is a line as expected. It is instructive to consider the behavior of the DUT mixer under these measurement conditions. In order to characterize the behavior of the phase shifter, a two port S parameter measurement is performed as the phase setting is altered. As is evident, the phase shifter has uniform insertion loss over all of the phase range





Figure 6.7: Eqn 6.6 plotted for various values of the coefficients. (a) No phase conjugate signal and no LO leakage. (b) Strong phase conjugate signal, no LO leakage. (c) Strong phase conjugate signal, with LO leakage. (d) Equally strong phase conjugate signal and RF leakage with LO leakage.

with close to 0 dB insertion loss as expected. The arrow indicates the direction of increasing delay on the delay line.

Next, the VNA is calibrated at the reference planes indicated in the scheme with the amplifier and frequency divider biased at quiescent. These two ports are then connected as shown in the scheme and S21 measured with first the divider and amplifier being turned off, and then with them on. As is shown in Fig. 6.10, the contour is offset from the center of the ϕ plane owing to the leakage of the LO at the same frequency. However, the points now trace an ellipse in the counter clockwise direction as expected if the phase conjugate signal dominates. This also leads to an interesting class of network behavior that could be exploited in certain applications like matching networks for example. For more context, Fig. 6.11 details



Figure 6.8: S21 of the phase shifter on a polar plot as the phase settings are altered (increasing phase delay, in steps of 10 degrees per gigacycles).

these contours on the same polar plot. Each point is color coded, and similarly coded colors correspond to the same physical setting on the phase shifter in both cases. As is evident, the directions traced by both these are opposite of one another like stated above. The geometrical nature of the contour can be used to quantify the various expected terms as noted above.

It is instructive to attempt to fit the contour shown in Fig. 6.10 to Eqn. 6.6 to quantify the various components. This is done in Fig. 6.12. The quantities ϵ, μ and ν are listed in the table below. As can be interpreted based on the contour and confirmed by the analysis, the LO leakage dominates. The phase conjugate term is stronger than the leakage as expected as well. Since the terms in 6.3 are normalized to the input amplitude, these are directly an indication of each term at the output. This method thus provides both a qualitative and quantitative method to characterize the amount of phase conjugate signal. The powers normalized in dB correlate exceedingly well with the large signal measurements in Table 6.2 in terms of the approximately 5 dB difference between the RF leakage and the conversion loss. This provides additional confirmation about the validity of this methodology.

Design and characterization of a phase conjugator using subharmonic diode 112 mixers



Figure 6.9: S21 of the scheme shown above on a polar plot as the phase settings are altered, with the LO amp and frequency divider turned off(increasing phase delay, in steps of 10 degrees per gigacycles). More points would add more granularity.

| Parameter | Complex | Magnitude (linear) | dB norm. |
|------------|--------------------|--------------------|----------|
| ϵ | -0.01345+0.01565i | 0.0206 | -9.03 |
| ν | 0.03 + 0.0553i | 0.0629 | -4.19 |
| μ | -0.1555 - 0.05506i | 0.1650 | 0 |

Table 6.3: Values of the various complex quantities from curvefitting to an ellipse using Equation. 6.6. The values are normalized to the LO leakage in the last column. The analysis shows that the phase conjugate signal is 4.8 dB stronger than the leakage.

6.4 Conclusion and future work

A phase conjugator architecture suitable for extension to mm-wave bands is demonstrated at RF frequencies on a low frequency prototype PCB. The circuit uses a 4th harmonic mixer relaxing the frequency requirement on the LO considerably. Next, a metrology technique to characterize the actual degree of phase conjugation is demonstrated. This has interesting implications for network synthesis resulting from the parametric nature of this operation, and could be an area of future research. The latter part of the chapter and analysis therein also answers the research question about quantifying the amount of phase conjugate signal versus the other components using cogent complex analysis and curve fitting.



Figure 6.10: S21 of the scheme shown above on a polar plot as the phase settings are altered, with the LO amp and frequency divider turned on(increasing phase delay, in steps of 10 degrees per gigacycles).

6.5 Personal Contributions

- Co-designed the conjugator architecture with Zhiyang Liu
- Designed and simulated the specific implementation on FR4 at 3.4 GHz.
- Characterized the PCB after fabrication at small signal and large signal CW.
- Designed the metrology technique to prove and quantify phase conjugation.
- Led the analysis of the results and the development of the theory detailed above.
- Leading effort to document observations and manuscript writing.

6.5.1 Acknowledgements

Matthew Bauwens, Chris Moore, Steven M. Bowers, Robert M. Weikle, Scott Barker, Travis Blalock, Jeffrey Hesler.



Figure 6.11: S21 of the scheme shown above on a polar plot as the phase settings are altered, with the LO amp and frequency divider turned on(increasing phase delay, in steps of 10 degrees per gigacycles). The contour centered at the origin is traced with the frequency divider and LO amplifier turned off. Each point is color coded and corresponds to exactly the same point on the phase shifter on both plots.



Figure 6.12: S21 on a polar plot with the LO path on, overlaid with an ellipse with parameters determined using Eqn. 6.6 and Table 6.3.

Chapter 7

Conclusion and Future work

This chapter attempts to summarise the conclusions from the individual chapters in one cogent synthesis and details possible directions for future work.

The underlying theme that recurs in the first five the chapters is the need for improved modeling of the InP HBT devices (specifically from Teledyne) under varying amounts of RF and thermal stress. PA designers will also increasingly benefit from a thermal model that is coupled to the electrical model and that converges reasonably easily, to be able to run two tone and modulated stimulus simulations to see the effects on the core devices and its performance. There has been a plethora of work on modeling GaAs devices, but to the best of the author's knowledge, there is a gap in literature for the InP devices used in most of this thesis. A unified framework that combines the thermal and electrical simulations in a unified framework would be the hoy grail for large signal circuit (and specifically PA) designers. As InP devices show increasing potential at the THz frequencies, the need for better modeling in every sense will only become paramount.

As mmwave systems proliferate, there will be an increasing need to be able to build complex subsystems that include antennas on the chip, and research on numerical solutions to reduce simulation time (in addition to the usage of virtual shorts and opens) will be extremely beneficial.Finally, the use of artificial intelligence (AI) as a tool cannot be discounted. There has been research on AI assisted power amplifier design, and the output matching network (perhaps the most critical part of the design) of such an endeavor does not look like anything that a PA designer would envision. A potential area of research could be using AI/Reinforcement learning to either simulate complex electromagnetic structures exceedingly easily or in generating a network (perhaps an antenna) that behaves the way we would like at different frequencies- that in itself is not new and has been around for a while. What would be truly useful would be in capturing the complex models for these transistors and the antenna/output networks in a single encapsulation that can interact and learn on the go. This would be especially useful in something like the phase conjugating array that was designed, especially since each of these pieces were simulated separately and then put together in a simulation increasing the chances of error etc.

A third area of research could be the unique opportunity to heterogeneously integrate the diodes and other devices built at UVA with these transistor devices. A synergy between the two technologies could enable increasing amounts of signal processing, and functionality that was previously unimaginable, especially something akin to putting amplifiers/conditioning circuits close to the probe tip on a waveguide probe, or in building a hybrid system that could subsume the SpaceK amplifier and the quadrupler used in [118] into one single device.

A fourth area of research could be the genesis of non-traditional matching networks using the methods outlined in Chapter 6 on phase conjugation. While foster networks are strictly defined as having a certain behavior with respect to frequency, these networks have a certain behavior with respect to phase and this could perhaps somehow be exploited. The fact that this is a parametric phenomenon gives it certain qualities that would otherwise not exist in a traditional network.

Bibliography

- [1] H. Wang and et. al, ""power amplifiers performance survey 2000-present"," 2021.
- [2] M. Urteaga, J. Hacker, Z. Griffith, A. Young, R. Pierson, P. Rowell, M. Seo, and M. J. W. Rodwell, "A 130 nm inp hbt integrated circuit technology for thz electronics," in 2016 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), 2016, pp. 29.2.1–29.2.4.
- [3] S. Christie, R. Cahill, N. B. Buchanan, V. F. Fusco, N. Mitchell, Y. V. Munro, and G. Maxwell-Cox, "Rotman lens-based retrodirective array," *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 60, no. 3, pp. 1343–1351, 2011.
- [4] H. Jang, P. Roblin, and Z. Xie, "Model-based nonlinear embedding for poweramplifier design," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 62, no. 9, pp. 1986–2002, 2014.
- [5] R. Mongia, *RF and Microwave Coupled-line Circuits, Second Edition*. Artech House, 2007.
- [6] E. Bryerton, S. Retzloff, and J. Hesler, "High-power submillimeter wave solidstate sources," in 2019 12th Global Symposium on Millimeter Waves (GSMM), 2019, pp. 29–31.
- [7] S. Dang, O. Amin, B. Shihada, and et al., "What should 6g be?" Nature Electronics, 2020.

- [8] T. S. Rappaport, Y. Xing, O. Kanhere, S. Ju, A. Madanayake, S. Mandal, A. Alkhateeb, and G. C. Trichopoulos, "Wireless communications and applications above 100 ghz: Opportunities and challenges for 6g and beyond," *IEEE Access*, vol. 7, pp. 78729–78757, 2019.
- [9] K. David and H. Berndt, "6g vision and requirements: Is there any need for beyond 5g?" *IEEE Vehicular Technology Magazine*, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 72–80, 2018.
- [10] Y. Aslan, J. Puskely, J. H. J. Janssen, M. Geurts, A. Roederer, and A. Yarovoy, "Thermal-aware synthesis of 5g base station antenna arrays: An overview and a sparsity-based approach," *IEEE Access*, vol. 6, pp. 58868–58882, 2018.
- [11] H. Wang, P. M. Asbeck, and C. Fager, "Millimeter-wave power amplifier integrated circuits for high dynamic range signals," *IEEE Journal of Microwaves*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 299–316, 2021.
- [12] J. Hacker, M. Seo, A. Young, Z. Griffith, M. Urteaga, T. Reed, and M. Rodwell,
 "Thz mmics based on inp hbt technology," in 2010 IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium, 2010, pp. 1126–1129.
- [13] M. Urteaga, Z. Griffith, R. Pierson, P. Rowell, A. Young, J. Hacker, B. Brar, S. Kim, R. Maurer, and M. Rodwell, "Thz inp bipolar transistors-circuit integration and applications," in 2017 IEEE Compound Semiconductor Integrated Circuit Symposium (CSICS), 2017, pp. 1–4.
- [14] A. A. Farid, A. S. H. Ahmed, and M. J. W. Rodwell, "A 27.5dbm eirp d-band transmitter module on a ceramic interposer," in 2021 IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits Symposium (RFIC), 2021, pp. 43–46.
- [15] A. Singh, M. Sayginer, M. J. Holyoak, J. Weiner, J. Kimionis, M. Elkhouly,Y. Baeyens, and S. Shahramian, "A d-band radio-on-glass module for

spectrally-efficient and low-cost wireless backhaul," in 2020 IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits Symposium (RFIC), 2020, pp. 99–102.

- [16] D. M. Mittleman, "Twenty years of terahertz imaging," *Optics express*, vol. 26, no. 8, pp. 9417–9431, 2018.
- [17] M. C. Beard, G. M. Turner, and C. A. Schmuttenmaer, "Terahertz spectroscopy," pp. 7146–7159, 2002.
- [18] R. Han, Z. Hu, C. Wang, J. Holloway, X. Yi, M. Kim, and J. Mawdsley, "Filling the gap: Silicon terahertz integrated circuits offer our best bet," pp. 80–93, 2019.
- [19] C. Han, Y. Wu, Z. Chen, and X. Wang, "Terahertz communications (teracom): Challenges and impact on 6g wireless systems," 2019.
- [20] C. R. Giuliano, *Physics Today*, vol. 34, no. 4, 1981.
- [21] R. A. Fisher, *Optical phase conjugation*. Academic press, 2012.
- [22] S. Maslovski and S. Tretyakov, "Phase conjugation and perfect lensing," *Journal of applied physics*, vol. 94, no. 7, pp. 4241–4243, 2003.
- [23] J. B. Pendry, "Negative refraction makes a perfect lens," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 85, pp. 3966–3969, Oct 2000. [Online]. Available: https: //link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.85.3966
- [24] P.-Y. Chen and A. Alù, "Subwavelength imaging using phase-conjugating nonlinear nanoantenna arrays," *Nano letters*, vol. 11, no. 12, pp. 5514–5518, 2011.
- [25] V. F. Fusco, N. B. Buchanan, and O. Malyuskin, "Active phase conjugating lens with sub-wavelength resolution capability," *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 58, no. 3, pp. 798–808, 2010.

- [26] O. Malyuskin, V. Fusco, and A. Schuchinsky, "Phase conjugating wire fss lens," *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 54, no. 5, pp. 1399– 1404, 2006.
- [27] V. F. Fusco and N. B. Buchanan, "Retrodirective antenna spatial data protection," *IEEE Antennas and Wireless Propagation Letters*, vol. 8, pp. 490–493, 2009.
- [28] O. Malyuskin and V. Fusco, "Spatial data encryption using phase conjugating lenses," *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 60, no. 6, pp. 2913–2920, 2012.
- [29] B. E. Henty and D. D. Stancil, "Multipath-enabled super-resolution for rf and microwave communication using phase-conjugate arrays," *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, vol. 93, p. 243904, Dec 2004. [Online]. Available: https://link.aps.org/doi/10.1103/PhysRevLett.93.243904
- [30] G. Lerosey, J. de Rosny, A. Tourin, A. Derode, G. Montaldo, and M. Fink, "Time reversal of electromagnetic waves and telecommunication," *Radio Science*, vol. 40, no. 6, 2005. [Online]. Available: https://agupubs. onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1029/2004RS003193
- [31] S. Hu, F. Wang, and H. Wang, "2.1 a 28ghz/37ghz/39ghz multiband linear doherty power amplifier for 5g massive mimo applications," in 2017 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference (ISSCC), 2017, pp. 32–33.
- [32] F. Wang, T.-W. Li, and H. Wang, "4.8 a highly linear super-resolution mixedsignal doherty power amplifier for high-efficiency mm-wave 5g multi-gb/s communications," in 2019 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference -(ISSCC), 2019, pp. 88–90.
- [33] K. Ning, Y. Fang, M. Rodwell, and J. Buckwalter, "A 130-ghz power amplifier

in a 250-nm inp process with 32Integrated Circuits Symposium (RFIC), 2020, pp. 1–4.

- [34] Z. Liu, T. Sharma, and K. Sengupta, "80–110-ghz broadband linear pa with 33% peak pae and comparison of stacked common base and common emitter pa in inp," *IEEE Microwave and Wireless Components Letters*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 756–759, 2021.
- [35] A. S. H. Ahmed, M. Seo, A. A. Farid, M. Urteaga, J. F. Buckwalter, and M. J. W. Rodwell, "A 140ghz power amplifier with 20.5dbm output power and 20.8in 250-nm inp hbt technology," in 2020 IEEE/MTT-S International Microwave Symposium (IMS), 2020, pp. 492–495.
- [36] N. L. K. Nguyen, N. S. Killeen, D. P. Nguyen, A. N. Stameroff, and A.-V. Pham,
 "A wideband gain-enhancement technique for distributed amplifiers," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 68, no. 9, pp. 3697–3708, 2020.
- [37] K. Eriksson, I. Darwazeh, and H. Zirath, "Inp dhbt distributed amplifiers with up to 235-ghz bandwidth," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 63, no. 4, pp. 1334–1341, 2015.
- [38] Q. Zhong, W.-Y. Choi, D.-Y. Kim, Z. Ahmad, R. Xu, Y. Zhang, R. Han, S. Kshattry, N. Sharma, Z.-Y. Chen, D. Shim, S. Sankaran, E.-Y. Seok, C. Mao, F. C. De Lucia, J. P. McMillan, C. F. Neese, I. Kim, I. Momson, P. Yelleswarapu, S. Dong, B. Pouya, P. Byreddy, Z. Chen, Y. Zhu, S. Ghosh, T. Dinh, F. Jalalibidgoli, J. Newman, and K. O. Kenneth, "Cmos terahertz receivers," in 2018 *IEEE Custom Integrated Circuits Conference (CICC)*, 2018, pp. 1–8.
- [39] M. Fujishima, "Terahertz wireless communication using 300ghz cmos transmitter," in 2016 13th IEEE International Conference on Solid-State and Integrated Circuit Technology (ICSICT), 2016, pp. 411–414.

- [40] V. Iyer, J. Sheth, L. Zhang, R. Weikle, and S. Bowers, "A 90-125 ghz stacked pa in 130 nm inp hbt with 18.3 % peak pae at 15.3 dbm output power," in 2022 US National Committee of URSI National Radio Science Meeting (USNC-URSI NRSM), 2022.
- [41] Z. Griffith, M. Urteaga, P. Rowell, L. Tran, and B. Brar, "50 250 ghz high-gain power amplifier mmics in 250-nm inp hbt," in 2019 IEEE BiCMOS and Compound semiconductor Integrated Circuits and Technology Symposium (BCICTS), 2019, pp. 1–6.
- [42] I. Aoki, S. Kee, D. Rutledge, and A. Hajimiri, "Distributed active transformera new power-combining and impedance-transformation technique," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 50, no. 1, pp. 316–331, 2002.
- [43] K. H. An, O. Lee, H. Kim, D. H. Lee, J. Han, K. S. Yang, Y. Kim, J. J. Chang, W. Woo, C.-H. Lee, H. Kim, and J. Laskar, "Power-combining transformer techniques for fully-integrated cmos power amplifiers," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 43, no. 5, pp. 1064–1075, 2008.
- [44] Z. Griffith, M. Urteaga, and P. Rowell, "A w -band sspa with 100–140-mw pout, >20% pae, and 26–30-db s21 gain across 88–104 ghz," *IEEE Microwave and Wireless Components Letters*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 189–192, 2020.
- [45] —, "A 140-ghz 0.25-w pa and a 55-135 ghz 115-135 mw pa, high-gain, broadband power amplifier mmics in 250-nm inp hbt," in 2019 IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium (IMS), 2019, pp. 1245–1248.
- [46] A. S. Ahmed, M. Seo, A. A. Farid, M. Urteaga, J. F. Buckwalter, and M. J. Rodwell, "A 200mw d-band power amplifier with 17.8% pae in 250-nm inp hbt technology," in 2020 15th European Microwave Integrated Circuits Conference (EuMIC), 2021, pp. 1–4.

- [47] C. Pon, "Retrodirective array using the heterodyne technique," *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 176–180, 1964.
- [48] C. Pobanz and T. Itoh, "A conformal retrodirective array for radar applications using a heterodyne phased scattering element," in *Proceedings of 1995 IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium*, 1995, pp. 905–908 vol.2.
- [49] R. Y. Miyamoto and T. Itoh, "Retrodirective arrays for wireless communications," *IEEE microwave magazine*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 71–79, 2002.
- [50] K. Leong, R. Miyamoto, and T. Itoh, "Moving forward in retrodirective antenna arrays," *IEEE Potentials*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 16–21, 2003.
- [51] S. Y. Nusenu and S. Huaizong, "Green secure communication range-angle focusing quadrature spatial modulation using frequency modulated diverse retrodirective array for mmwave wireless communications," *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, vol. 68, no. 7, pp. 6867–6877, 2019.
- [52] E. Sharp and M. Diab, "Van atta reflector array," *IRE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 436–438, 1960.
- [53] M. Abbasi and V. Fusco, "Maxwell fisheye lens based retrodirective array," *Nature Scientific Reports*, vol. 9, 2019.
- [54] Y. Jin, M. Spirito, and J. R. Long, "A 60ghz-band millimeter-wave active balun with ±5° phase error," in *The 5th European Microwave Integrated Circuits Conference*, 2010, pp. 210–213.
- [55] K. Leong, Y. Wang, and T. Itoh, "A full duplex capable retrodirective array system for high-speed beam tracking and pointing applications," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 52, no. 5, pp. 1479–1489, 2004.

- [56] Z. Liu and R. Weikle, "High-order subharmonically pumped mixers using phased local oscillators," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 54, no. 7, pp. 2977–2982, 2006.
- [57] T. Brabetz, V. Fusco, and S. Karode, "Balanced subharmonic mixers for retrodirective-array applications," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 49, no. 3, pp. 465–469, 2001.
- [58] J.-Y. Park and T. Itoh, "A 60-ghz 4th subharmonic phase-conjugated retrodirective array," in 34th European Microwave Conference, 2004., vol. 3. IEEE, 2004, pp. 1277–1280.
- [59] B. Murakami, J. Roque, S. Sung, G. Shiroma, R. Miyamoto, and W. Shiroma, "A quadruple subharmonic phase-conjugating array for secure picosatellite crosslinks," in 2004 IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium Digest (IEEE Cat. No.04CH37535), vol. 3, 2004, pp. 1687–1690 Vol.3.
- [60] "Radio frequency channel/block arrangements for Fixed Service systems operating in the bands 130-134 GHz, 141-148.5 GHz, 151.5-164 GHz and 167-174.8 GHz."
- [61] Z. Liu, T. Sharma, and K. Sengupta, "80–110-GHz Broadband Linear PA With 33% Peak PAE and Comparison of Stacked Common Base and Common Emitter PA in InP," *IEEE Microwave and Wireless Components Letters*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 756–759, 2021.
- [62] A. A. Farid, A. S. H. Ahmed, and M. J. W. Rodwell, "A 27.5dBm EIRP D-Band Transmitter Module on a Ceramic Interposer," in 2021 IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits Symposium (RFIC), 2021, pp. 43–46.
- [63] A. Singh, M. Sayginer, M. J. Holyoak, J. Weiner, J. Kimionis, M. Elkhouly,Y. Baeyens, and S. Shahramian, "A D-Band Radio-on-Glass Module for

Spectrally-Efficient and Low-Cost Wireless Backhaul," in 2020 IEEE Radio Frequency Integrated Circuits Symposium (RFIC), 2020, pp. 99–102.

- [64] S. Carpenter, D. Nopchinda, M. Abbasi, Z. S. He, M. Bao, T. Eriksson, and H. Zirath, "A D-Band 48-Gbit/s 64-QAM/QPSK Direct-Conversion I/Q Transceiver Chipset," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 64, no. 4, pp. 1285–1296, 2016.
- [65] A. Simsek, A. S. H. Ahmed, A. A. Farid, U. Soylu, and M. J. W. Rodwell, "A 140GHz Two-Channel CMOS Transmitter Using Low-Cost Packaging Technologies," in 2020 IEEE Wireless Communications and Networking Conference Workshops (WCNCW), 2020, pp. 1–3.
- [66] M. Ito, T. Okawa, and T. Marumoto, "D-band Transceiver Utilizing 70-nm GaAs-mHEMT Technology for FDD System," in 2019 IEEE BiCMOS and Compound semiconductor Integrated Circuits and Technology Symposium (BCICTS), 2019, pp. 1–4.
- [67] V. Iyer, J. Sheth, L. Zhang, R. M. Weikle, and S. Bowers, "A 90-125 GHz Stacked PA in 130 nm InP HBT with 18.3% peak PAE at 15.3 dBm Output Power," in 2022 United States National Committee of URSI National Radio Science Meeting (USNC-URSI NRSM), 2022, pp. 224–225.
- [68] X. Li, W. Chen, S. Li, H. Wu, X. Yi, R. Han, and Z. Feng, "A 110-to-130GHz SiGe BiCMOS Doherty Power Amplifier With Slotline-Based Power-Combining Technique Achieving >22 dBm Saturated Output Power and >10% Power Back-off Efficiency," in 2022 IEEE International Solid- State Circuits Conference (ISSCC), vol. 65, 2022, pp. 316–318.
- [69] Z.-M. Tsai, M.-F. Lei, and H. Wang, "An HBT Four-Cell Monolithic Stacked Power Amplifier," in 2007 IEEE/MTT-S International Microwave Symposium, 2007, pp. 151–154.

- [70] T. J. Farmer, A. Darwish, B. Huebschman, E. Viveiros, H. A. Hung, and M. E. Zaghloul, "Class-A stacked SiGe HBT power amplifier at millimeter-wave," in 2011 International Semiconductor Device Research Symposium (ISDRS), 2011, pp. 1–2.
- [71] A. Chakrabarti and H. Krishnaswamy, "High-Power High-Efficiency Class-E-Like Stacked mmWave PAs in SOI and Bulk CMOS: Theory and Implementation," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 62, no. 8, pp. 1686–1704, 2014.
- [72] M.-F. Lei, Z.-M. Tsai, K.-Y. Lin, and H. Wang, "Design and Analysis of Stacked Power Amplifier in Series-Input and Series-Output Configuration," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 55, no. 12, pp. 2802–2812, 2007.
- [73] M. Urteaga, J. Hacker, Z. Griffith, A. Young, R. Pierson, P. Rowell, M. Seo, and M. J. W. Rodwell, "A 130 nm InP HBT integrated circuit technology for THz electronics," in 2016 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), 2016, pp. 29.2.1–29.2.4.
- [74] M. Bao, V. Vassilev, D. Gustafsson, and H. Zirath, "G-band Power Amplifiers in 130 nm InP Technology," in 2020 15th European Microwave Integrated Circuits Conference (EuMIC), 2021, pp. 5–8.
- [75] A. Raffo, F. Scappaviva, and G. Vannini, "A new approach to microwave power amplifier design based on the experimental characterization of the intrinsic electron-device load line," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 57, no. 7, pp. 1743–1752, 2009.
- [76] P. Roblin, F. J. Martinez-Rodriguez, H. C. Chang, C. Xie, and J. I. Martinez-Lopez, "Transistor characterization and modeling and the use of embedding

device models for the design of microwave power amplifiers," in 2015 Integrated Nonlinear Microwave and Millimetre-wave Circuits Workshop (INMMiC), 2015, pp. 1–6.

- [77] D. Schreurs, S. Vandenberghe, H. Taher, and B. Nauwelaers, "Ann model for sige hbts constructed from time-domain large-signal measurements," 2002.
- [78] C. Presti, "Lecture notes on power amplifiers for wireless communications," 2018.
- [79] A. Suarez, S. Jeon, and D. Rutledge, "Global stability analysis and stabilization of power amplifier," in 2008 Workshop on Integrated Nonlinear Microwave and Millimetre-Wave Circuits, 2008, pp. 87–90.
- [80] R. Quere and A. Suarez, 2002.
- [81] A. Hamani, A. Siligaris, F. Barrera, C. Dehos, N. Cassiau, B. Blampey, F. Chaix, M. Gary, and J. L. Gonzalez Jimenez, "A 84.48-Gb/s 64-QAM CMOS D-Band Channel-Bonding Tx Front-End With Integrated Multi-LO Frequency Generation," *IEEE Solid-State Circuits Letters*, vol. 3, pp. 346–349, 2020.
- [82] A. S. H. Ahmed, M. Seo, A. A. Farid, M. Urteaga, J. F. Buckwalter, and M. J. W. Rodwell, "A 140GHz power amplifier with 20.5dBm output power and 20.8% PAE in 250-nm InP HBT technology," in 2020 IEEE/MTT-S International Microwave Symposium (IMS), 2020, pp. 492–495.
- [83] Z. Liu, T. Sharma, and K. Sengupta, "80–110-GHz Broadband Linear PA With 33% Peak PAE and Comparison of Stacked Common Base and Common Emitter PA in InP," *IEEE Microwave and Wireless Components Letters*, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 756–759, 2021.
- [84] Z. Griffith, M. Urteaga, and P. Rowell, "A W -Band SSPA With 100-140-

mW P_{out} , >20% PAE, and 26–30-dB S_{21} Gain Across 88–104 GHz," *IEEE Microwave and Wireless Components Letters*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 189–192, 2020.

- [85] A. S. Ahmed, M. Seo, A. A. Farid, M. Urteaga, J. F. Buckwalter, and M. J. Rodwell, "A 200mW D-band Power Amplifier with 17.8% PAE in 250-nm InP HBT Technology," in 2020 15th European Microwave Integrated Circuits Conference (EuMIC), 2021, pp. 1–4.
- [86] Z. Griffith, M. Urteaga, and P. Rowell, "A 140-GHz 0.25-W PA and a 55-135 GHz 115-135 mW PA, High-Gain, Broadband Power Amplifier MMICs in 250-nm InP HBT," in 2019 IEEE MTT-S International Microwave Symposium (IMS), 2019, pp. 1245–1248.
- [87] A. S. H. Ahmed, M. Seo, A. A. Farid, M. Urteaga, J. F. Buckwalter, and M. J. W. Rodwell, "A 140GHz power amplifier with 20.5dBm output power and 20.8% PAE in 250-nm InP HBT technology," in 2020 IEEE/MTT-S International Microwave Symposium (IMS), 2020, pp. 492–495.
- [88] A. Banerjee and P. Wambacq, "A 130GHz Two-Stage Common-Base Power Amplifier in 250nm InP," in 2022 47th International Conference on Infrared, Millimeter and Terahertz Waves (IRMMW-THz), 2022, pp. 1–2.
- [89] I. Aoki, S. Kee, D. Rutledge, and A. Hajimiri, "Fully integrated CMOS power amplifier design using the distributed active-transformer architecture," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 37, no. 3, pp. 371–383, 2002.
- [90] Y.-N. Jen, J.-H. Tsai, T.-W. Huang, and H. Wang, "Design and Analysis of a 55–71-GHz Compact and Broadband Distributed Active Transformer Power Amplifier in 90-nm CMOS Process," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 57, no. 7, pp. 1637–1646, 2009.
- [91] C. Yang, X. Liu, W. Tao, Y. Guo, and J. Jin, "A 77 GHz 4-Way Power Amplifier
with 20.2 dBm Output Power in 40 nm CMOS," in 2022 IEEE MTT-S International Wireless Symposium (IWS), vol. 1, 2022, pp. 1–3.

- [92] L. Zhang, V. Iyer, J. Sheth, L. Xie, R. M. Weikle, and S. M. Bowers, "A 117.5-130 GHz 22.1 dBm 11.5% PAE DAT Based Power Amplifier in InP 130 nm HBT Technology," in 2021 16th European Microwave Integrated Circuits Conference (EuMIC), 2022, pp. 229–232.
- [93] D. Zhao and J. Zhong, "Design and Modeling of Millimeter-Wave Transformer in Silicon: A Tutorial (Invited)," in 2019 IEEE International Symposium on Radio-Frequency Integration Technology (RFIT), 2019, pp. 1–3.
- [94] M. Urteaga, Z. Griffith, M. Seo, J. Hacker, and M. J. W. Rodwell, "InP HBT Technologies for THz Integrated Circuits," *Proceedings of the IEEE*, vol. 105, no. 6, pp. 1051–1067, 2017.
- [95] V. Iyer, J. Sheth, L. Zhang, R. M. Weikle, and S. M. Bowers, "A 15.3-dBm, 18.3% PAE F-Band Power Amplifier in 130-nm InP HBT With Modulation Measurements," *IEEE Microwave and Wireless Technology Letters*, pp. 1–4, 2022.
- [96] T. Chi, M.-Y. Huang, S. Li, and H. Wang, "17.7 a packaged 90-to-300ghz transmitter and 115-to-325ghz coherent receiver in cmos for full-band continuouswave mm-wave hyperspectral imaging," in 2017 IEEE International Solid-State Circuits Conference (ISSCC), 2017, pp. 304–305.
- [97] R. Han and E. Afshari, "A cmos high-power broadband 260-ghz radiator array for spectroscopy," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 48, no. 12, pp. 3090–3104, 2013.
- [98] Z. Hu, M. Kaynak, and R. Han, "High-power radiation at 1 thz in silicon: A fully scalable array using a multi-functional radiating mesh structure," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 53, no. 5, pp. 1313–1327, 2018.

- [99] S. M. Bowers and A. Hajimiri, "Multi-port driven radiators," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 61, no. 12, pp. 4428–4441, 2013.
- [100] D. Rutledge, Z. Popovic, R. Weikle, M. Kim, K. Potter, R. Compton, and R. York, "Quasi-optical power-combining arrays," in *IEEE International Di*gest on Microwave Symposium, 1990, pp. 1201–1204 vol.3.
- [101] S. Venkatesh, X. Lu, H. Saedi, and K. Sengupta, "A high-speed programmable and scalable terahertz holographic metasurface based on tiled cmos chips," no. 3, 2020.
- [102] G. S. He, "Optical phase conjugation: principles, techniques, and applications," *Progress in Quantum Electronics*, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 131–191, 2002. [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0079672702000046
- [103] Y. Chang, H. Fetterman, I. Newberg, and S. Panaretos, "Microwave phase conjugation using antenna arrays," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 46, no. 11, pp. 1910–1919, 1998.
- [104] T. Brabetz, V. Fusco, and S. Karode, "Balanced subharmonic mixers for retrodirective-array applications," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 49, no. 3, pp. 465–469, 2001.
- [105] N. Alexopoulos, P. Katehi, and D. Rutledge, "Substrate optimization for integrated circuit antennas," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 31, no. 7, pp. 550–557, 1983.
- [106] D. Rutledge, "Substrate-lens coupled antennas for millimeter and submillimeter waves," *IEEE Antennas and Propagation Society Newsletter*, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 4–8, 1985.

- [107] B. Gilbert, "The micromixer: a highly linear variant of the gilbert mixer using a bisymmetric class-ab input stage," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 32, no. 9, pp. 1412–1423, 1997.
- [108] D. Filipovic, S. Gearhart, and G. Rebeiz, "Double-slot antennas on extended hemispherical and elliptical silicon dielectric lenses," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 41, no. 10, pp. 1738–1749, 1993.
- [109] D. W. Porterfield, J. L. Hesler, R. Densing, E. R. Mueller, T. W. Crowe, and R. M. Weikle, "Resonant metal-mesh bandpass filters for the far infrared," *Appl. Opt.*, vol. 33, no. 25, pp. 6046–6052, Sep 1994. [Online]. Available: http://www.osapublishing.org/ao/abstract.cfm?URI=ao-33-25-6046
- [110] E. Pelton and B. Munk, "Scattering from periodic arrays of crossed dipoles," *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 323–330, 1979.
- [111] T. Weller, L. Katehi, and G. Rebeiz, "Single and double folded-slot antennas on semi-infinite substrates," *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 43, no. 12, pp. 1423–1428, 1995.
- [112] G. Q. Luo, Z. F. Hu, W. J. Li, X. H. Zhang, L. L. Sun, and J. F. Zheng, "Bandwidth-enhanced low-profile cavity-backed slot antenna by using hybrid siw cavity modes," *IEEE Transactions on Antennas and Propagation*, vol. 60, no. 4, pp. 1698–1704, 2012.
- [113] Z. Griffith, M. Urteaga, P. Rowell, R. Pierson, and M. Field, "Multi-finger 250nm inp hbts for 220ghz mm-wave power," in 2012 International Conference on Indium Phosphide and Related Materials, 2012, pp. 204–207.
- [114] C. E. Tong and R. Blundell, "An annular slot antenna on a dielectric halfspace," *IEEE transactions on antennas and propagation*, vol. 42, no. 7, pp. 967– 974, 1994.

- [115] L. Liu, Q. Xiao, A. W. Lichtenberger, and R. M. Weikle, "Integrated 585 ghz hot-electron mixers based on annular slot antennas," in 2007 IEEE/MTT-S International Microwave Symposium. IEEE, 2007, pp. 1153–1156.
- [116] A. Zhang and J. Gao, "Emitter-length scalable small signal and noise modeling for inp heterojunction bipolar transistors," *IEEE Access*, vol. 7, pp. 13 939– 13 944, 2019.
- [117] H. Aghasi, A. Cathelin, and E. Afshari, "A 0.92-thz sige power radiator based on a nonlinear theory for harmonic generation," *IEEE Journal of Solid-State Circuits*, vol. 52, no. 2, pp. 406–422, 2017.
- [118] N. Alijabbari, M. F. Bauwens, and R. M. Weikle, "160 ghz balanced frequency quadruplers based on quasi-vertical schottky varactors integrated on micromachined silicon," *IEEE Transactions on Terahertz Science and Technol*ogy, vol. 4, no. 6, pp. 678–685, 2014.
- [119] J. Kim, H. Son, D. Kim, K. Song, J. Yoo, and J.-S. Rieh, "Inp hbt oscillators operating up to 682 ghz with coupled-line load for improved efficiency and output power," in 2020 IEEE/MTT-S International Microwave Symposium (IMS), 2020, pp. 767–770.
- [120] D. Held and A. Kerr, "Conversion loss and noise of microwave and millimeterwave mixers: Part 2 - experiment," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 55–61, 1978.
- [121] A. Kerr, "Noise and loss in balanced and subharmonically pumped mixers: Part i - theory," *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, vol. 27, no. 12, pp. 938–943, 1979.